
   

A G E N D A  
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED 

 
Regular Meeting   

Thursday, June 18, 2020 
12:00 p.m.  

 
Closed session immediately following  

 
Housing Authority of the County of Merced   Jack Jackson, Chairperson 
Merced Migrant Center      Rick Osorio, Vice-Chair 
2753 N. Santa Fe Avenue      Evelyn Dorsey 
Former Daycare Center      Margaret Pia 
Merced, CA 95341       Jose Resendez 
(209) 386-4139       Rachel Torres 
         Hub Walsh   
              

 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL    
 

II. UNSCHEDULED ORAL COMMUNICATION 
 

 

III. COMMISSIONER and/or AGENCY ADDITIONS/DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA  
                                                      

         (M/S/C): ____/____/____           
                

IV. APPROVAL OF THE FOLLOWING MEETING MINUTES 
 

None 
 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
This portion of the meeting is set aside for members of the public to comment on any item within the jurisdiction of 
the Commission, but not appearing on the agenda. Items presented under public comment may not be discussed or 
acted upon by the Commission at this time.  
 
For items appearing on the agenda, the public is invited to comment at the time the item is called for consideration by 
the Commission. Any person addressing the Commission under Public Comment will be limited to a 5-minute 
presentation.  
 
All persons addressing the Commission are requested to state their name and address for the record.  

All persons requesting disability related modifications or accommodations may contact the 
Housing Authority of the County of Merced at (209) 386-4139, 72 hours prior to the public meeting. 
 
All supporting documentation is available for public review in the office of the Clerk of the Board located in 
the Housing Authority Administration Building, Second Floor, 405 “U” Street, Merced, CA 95341 during 
regular business hours, 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. 

 
The Agenda is available online at www.merced-pha.com 

 
Use of cell phones, pagers, and other communication devices is prohibited while the Board 
Meeting is in session.  Please turn all devices off or place on silent alert and leave the room to use.

1 of 75



   

V. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

None 
 

VI. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEM(S) 
 

None 
 

VII. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT 
 

None 
 

VIII. WRITTEN CORRESPONDENCE 
 

None 
 

IX. RESOLUTION ITEM(S) 
 

1. Resolution No. 2020-04: Approving and adopting the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Housing Authority of the County of Merced and 
the American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees AFL-
CIO, LOCAL 2703. 

 

(M/S/C): ____/____/____ 
 

2. Resolution No. 2020-05: Approving the Employee Job Classification 
Salary Schedules for Represented Employees of the Housing Authority of 
the County of Merced. 

 

(M/S/C): ____/____/____ 
 

X. ACTION ITEM(S) 
 

None 
 

XI. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS  
 

XII. CLOSED SESSION ITEM(S) 
 

None 
 

XIII. ADJOURNMENT 
     

(M/S/C): ____/____/____           

2 of 75



 
STAFF REPORT 

 
 
TO:  Board of Commissioners,  
  Housing Authority of the County of Merced 
 
FROM: Rosa Vazquez, Executive Director 
 
DATE: June 18, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: Recommendation to adopt Resolution No. 2020-04, approving and 

adopting the Memorandum of Understanding between the Housing 
Authority of the County of Merced and the American Federation of State 
County and Municipal Employees AFL-CIO, LOCAL 2703.  

 
For your consideration, is Resolution No 2020-04, approving and adopting the 
Memorandum of Understanding between the Housing Authority of the County of Merced 
(Authority) and the American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees AFL-
CIO, Local 2703 (AFSCME). 
 
Both parties have been in negotiations since November 14, 2019 regarding the 
Memorandum of Understanding that has been in effect and expired January 31, 2020. 
The two parties met on nine separate occasions. On May 28, 2020, the Authority 
presented AFSCME with its last, best and final offer and a tentative agreement was 
reached regarding wages, benefits and other working conditions for all employees 
covered by the long-standing collective bargaining agreement between the Authority and 
AFSCME. 
 
The terms of the proposed Memorandum of Understanding have been ratified by 
membership of the bargaining unit represented by AFSCME on June 15, 2020. 
Subsequent to ratification, the Parties have jointly drafted the attached Memorandum of 
Understanding document pursuant to the requirements of California Government Code 
Section 3505.1. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
It is recommended that the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the 
County of Merced adopt Resolution No. 2020-04, approving and adopting the 
Memorandum of Understanding between the Housing Authority of the County of Merced 
and the American Federation of State County and Municipal employees AFL-CIO, Local 
2703. The Memorandum of Understanding is attached as Exhibit A. 

3 of 75



RESOLUTION 2020-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE HOUSING 
AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED, APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE 

2020-2023 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE HOUSING 
AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED AND THE AMERICAN FEDERATION 

OF STATE COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES AFL-CIO,  LOCAL 2703 
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement between the Housing Authority of the County of Merced 
(Authority) and Local 2703, American Federation of State, County and Municipal 
Employees, AFL-CIO, (AFSCME) requires that negotiation for changes to the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) begin no less than thirty (30) days prior to the 
anniversary date; and, 
 

WHEREAS, negotiation representatives from Authority and AFSCME met and conferred 
on nine separate occasions; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 28, 2020, Authority and AFSCME negotiators Met and Conferred, 
and the Authority presented AFSCME with its last, best and final offer; and  
 

WHREAS, on June 15, 2020, the Union membership voted and accepted the new 
Agreement. 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 
Authority of the County of Merced hereby adopts Resolution No. 2020-04, approving the 
Agreement between the Authority and AFSCME, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

Motion:     Second: 
 

Ayes: 
 

Nays: 
 

Absent: 
 

Abstain: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Chairperson, Board of Commissioners 
Housing Authority of the County of Merced  Dated: June 18, 2020 

4 of 75



1 | P a g e  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED 

 
AND 

 
LOCAL 2703, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND  

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO  
 
 

 
  

Exhibit A

5 of 75



2 | P a g e  

 

Table of Contents 
PREAMBLE ................................................................................................... 6 
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION ............................................................................ 6 
ARTICLE 2 - DUES AND NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATIONS .................................... 6 
ARTICLE 3 - DEFINITIONS ............................................................................. 7 
ARTICLE 4 - EMPLOYMENT ............................................................................. 8 

Section 1: Recruitment ............................................................................... 8 
Section 2: Closed Recruitment ..................................................................... 8 
Section 3: Temporary Appointments ............................................................. 8 
Section 4: Initial and Promotional Probation Periods ........................................ 9 
Section 5: Status and Evaluations During Probation Periods ............................. 9 

A) Evaluations During Probationary Periods. ................................................ 9 
B) Dismissal/Rejection During Probationary Period. ...................................... 9 
C) Extensions to Probationary Periods. ..................................................... 10 
D) Successful Completion of Probation. .................................................... 10 

Section 6: Employee Records ..................................................................... 10 
Section 7: Voluntary Resignation/Separation and Automatic Resignation from 
Service ................................................................................................... 10 

A) Voluntary Resignation/Separation ........................................................ 10 
B) Automatic Resignation from Service ..................................................... 11 

Section 8: Duty to Consult ........................................................................ 11 
ARTICLE 5 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS .............................................................. 11 
ARTICLE 6 - NO INTERFERENCE; NO LOCKOUT ............................................... 12 

Section 1: No Interference ........................................................................ 12 
Section 2: No Lockout .............................................................................. 12 

ARTICLE 7 – NON-DISCRIMINATION ............................................................. 12 
ARTICLE 8 - UNION STEWARDS AND REPRESENTATIVES ................................. 13 

Section 1: Stewards ................................................................................. 13 
Section 2: Union Access ............................................................................ 13 

ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE ................................ 13 
Section 1: Statements Of Intent ................................................................. 13 
Section 2: Definitions ............................................................................... 14 
Section 3: Grievance Procedures ................................................................ 15 

ARTICLE 10 - DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL .................................................... 17 

Exhibit A

6 of 75



3 | P a g e  

Section 1: Scope & Purpose ....................................................................... 17 
Section 2: Discipline ................................................................................. 18 
Section 3: Written Reprimand .................................................................... 18 
Section 4: Reduction In Pay ...................................................................... 18 
Section 5: Suspensions ............................................................................. 18 
Section 6: Dismissal ................................................................................. 19 
Section 7: Conduct That May Result In Disciplinary Action ............................. 19 
Section 8: Notice of Proposed Discipline, Disciplinary Action and Appeal Procedure
 ............................................................................................................. 20 
Section 9: Inapplicability To Probationary Employees .................................... 21 

ARTICLE 11 - TRANSFERS, LAYOFFS & RECALL ............................................... 21 
Section 1: Transfers ................................................................................. 21 
Section 2: Layoff & Recall ......................................................................... 22 

A. Layoff & Reduction In Force: ............................................................... 22 
B. Maintenance Of Eligibility Lists, Seniority, And Procedures For Recall: ....... 24 
C. Benefits Upon Reinstatement Following A Reduction In Force: ................. 25 

ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY ............................................................................. 25 
Section 1: Definition ................................................................................. 25 
Section 2: Accrual Of Seniority .................................................................. 25 
Section 3: Loss Of Seniority ...................................................................... 26 
Section 4: Probationary Employees ............................................................. 26 
Section 5: Promotion ................................................................................ 26 
Section 6: Seniority Lists .......................................................................... 27 

ARTICLE 13 - ANNUAL LEAVE ....................................................................... 27 
Section 1: Accrual .................................................................................... 27 
Section 2: Scheduling ............................................................................... 28 
Section 3: Annual Leave Cash-Out ............................................................. 28 
Section 4- Payment At Termination ............................................................ 29 

ARTICLE 14 - SALARIES .............................................................................. 29 
Section 1: Basic Salary Schedule ................................................................ 29 
Section 2: Increases Within Range ............................................................. 30 
Section 3: Effective Date Of Change ........................................................... 30 
Section 4: New Or Changed Classifications .................................................. 30 
Section 5: Re-Employment ........................................................................ 31 
Section 6: Method Of Computing Hourly Wage ............................................. 31 

Exhibit A

7 of 75



4 | P a g e  

Section 7: Out of Class Pay ....................................................................... 31 
Section 8: Uniforms ................................................................................. 31 

ARTICLE 15 - ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION ................................................... 32 
Section 1: Longevity Pay ........................................................................... 32 
Section 2: On-Call Pay .............................................................................. 33 
Section 3: Call-Back Pay ........................................................................... 33 
Section 4: Overtime Meal Allowance ........................................................... 34 
Section 5: Employee Medical Allowance & Employer-Paid Insurance Premiums.. 34 

A. Medical Insurance ............................................................................. 34 
B. Dental Plan ....................................................................................... 34 
C. Vision Insurance ............................................................................... 35 
D. Life Insurance ................................................................................... 35 
E. Retiree Medical Insurance ................................................................... 35 

Section 6: Flexible Spending ...................................................................... 35 
A. Cafeteria Plan ................................................................................. 345 
B. Flexible Spending Allowance ............................................................... 34 

Section 7: Retirement Benefits................................................................... 36 
A. CalPERS Retirement Plan .................................................................... 36 
B. Deferred Compensation Plan ............................................................... 37 

Section 8: Bilingual Pay ............................................................................ 36 
ARTICLE 16 - Sick Leave And Disability Compensation ..................................... 37 

Section 1: Sick Leave ............................................................................... 37 
Section 2: Illness In The Immediate Family ................................................. 38 
Section 3: Fraction Of A Day ...................................................................... 39 
Section 4: Personal Necessity Leave ........................................................... 39 
Section 5: Accumulation ........................................................................... 39 
Section 6: Use Of Sick Leave While On Vacation ........................................... 40 
Section 7: Disability Compensation And Benefits .......................................... 40 
Section 8: Catastrophic Leave Donations ..................................................... 40 

ARTICLE 17 - Leave Of Absence .................................................................... 41 
Section 1: Criteria .................................................................................... 41 
Section 2: Requests ................................................................................. 42 
Section 3: Accumulated Sick And Annual Leave ............................................ 42 
Section 4: Health And Dental Payments ...................................................... 42 
Section 5: Replacement And Transfers ........................................................ 42 

Exhibit A

8 of 75



5 | P a g e  

Section 6: Pregnancy Disability Leave ......................................................... 42 
Section 7: Family Medical Leave Act ........................................................... 43 

ARTICLE 18 – Occupational Injury Compensation And Benefits .......................... 43 
ARTICLE 19 - Bereavement Leave ................................................................. 43 
ARTICLE 20 - Court Leave ............................................................................ 44 
ARTICLE 21 - Military Service Leave ............................................................ 444 
ARTICLE 22 - Rest And Meal Periods .............................................................. 44 
ARTICLE 23 - Hours Of Work And Holidays ..................................................... 45 

Section 1: Work Hours .............................................................................. 45 
Section 2: Holidays Worked ....................................................................... 45 
Section 3: Holidays Observed .................................................................... 46 
Section 4: Holiday During Vacation ............................................................. 46 
Section 5: Use of Floating Holidays ............................................................. 46 
Section 6: Part-Time Employees ................................................................. 47 

ARTICLE 24 - Annual Leave And Wages In Case Of Death ................................. 47 
ARTICLE 25 - Bulletin Boards ....................................................................... 47 
ARTICLE 26 - Work Rules ............................................................................. 48 
ARTICLE 27 - Political Activity By Employees .................................................. 48 
ARTICLE 28 - Impasse Procedures ................................................................ 49 
ARTICLE 29 - Savings Clause ....................................................................... 49 
ARTICLE 30 - Term Of Contract/Termination ................................................... 50 
ARTICLE 31 - Labor Management Committee .................................................. 50 
 
 
 
 
  

Exhibit A

9 of 75



6 | P a g e  

PREAMBLE  
 
WHEREAS the Housing Authority of the County of Merced (“Authority") and Local 
2703, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO 
(“AFSCME” or “the Union”), entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) 
that expired on January 31, 2017 contained an express provision that it shall continue 
both during the period of negotiations over a successor MOU, and until notice of 
termination of the prior MOU is provided to the other Party; therefore, 
 
THE PARTIES AGREE, upon ratification of the following new MOU, that negotiations 
have been completed; all prior MOU have ended and are superseded by this new MOU 
upon execution of this successor MOU by all Parties. 
 
This MOU has, as its purpose, the promotion of harmonious relations between the 
Authority and the Union; the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure 
for the resolution of differences; and the establishment of rates of pay, hours of work, 
and other conditions of employment. 
 

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION 
 
Local 2703, AFSCME shall represent all regular and probationary employees of the 
Authority, except those exempted by this contract, for the life of this MOU. 
 

ARTICLE 2 - DUES DEDUCTIONS AND NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATIONS 
 
A. Dues Deductions 

The Union shall have the regular dues and any voluntary deductions of its bargaining 
unit members deducted from their paychecks pursuant to the dues deduction 
authorization forms as reported by the Union. 

The Union is solely responsible for distributing to, and collecting from, employees the 
dues and voluntary deduction authorization forms. The Union is responsible for 
maintaining the deduction forms from individual employees. Copies of an individual 
employee’s deduction authorization need not be provided to the Authority unless a 
dispute arises about the existence or terms of the authorization. Questions regarding 
Union membership, dues amounts, and payroll deductions must be directed to the 
Union and not the Authority. 

The Union shall indemnify, defend, and hold the Authority, its officers, agents, and 
employees harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, defense 
costs, suits, or other action or liability of any kind or nature arising from this section, 
including, claims for or related to employee authorizations, revocations, deductions 
made, cancelled, or changed in reliance on the Union’s representations and 
certifications regarding employee dues deduction authorizations. 

Exhibit A

10 of 75



7 | P a g e  

This section of the MOU is not grievable. 
 
B. New Employee Orientations 

 
If on file with the Authority, the Authority will supply the Union with the names, job 
titles departments, work locations, work, home, and personal cellular telephone 
numbers, home addresses, and personal email addresses of each new employee 
within 30 days of hiring the employee, and once quarterly for all employees in the 
bargaining unit. 
 

The Union will be given 10 days’ notice of new employee group orientation meetings 
and a representative of the Union will be invited to meet with the new employees. 
The Union representative may then meet with the new Union-represented employees 
in the orientation meeting room in a small group or individuals for thirty (30) minutes 
after the conclusion of the orientation meeting. 

ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS 
 

The following definitions shall be utilized within this MOU: 
 
FULL-TIME, REGULAR EMPLOYEE: An employee who occupies an allocated 
position; has successfully completed an initial probationary period; and is assigned a 
regular 40-hour workweek. 
 
PART-TIME, REGULAR EMPLOYEE: An employee who occupies an allocated 
position; has successfully completed an initial probationary period; and is assigned a 
regular work schedule of less than 40 hours per week. 
 
PROMOTION: A competitive appointment of an employee to a position which is 
outside of their current classification or job series, and which may involve increased 
authority. 
 
RECLASSIFICATION: A non-competitive appointment of an employee to a position 
for which they are presently satisfactorily demonstrating the listed necessary 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to perform within the job classification. 
Reclassifications shall be in accordance with current Authority procedures. 
 
JOB SERIES: A job series is a progression between positions within a classification 
which have similar minimum qualifications and where the primary difference is the 
number of years of experience required. Upward progression through a series shall 
also be subject to satisfactory demonstration of the listed necessary knowledge, skill 
and abilities to perform within a job classification. 
 
 
 

Exhibit A

11 of 75



8 | P a g e  

ARTICLE 4 - EMPLOYMENT 
 
Section 1: Recruitment 
 
The purpose of recruitment is to assure that interested persons are informed of, and 
qualified persons are attracted to compete for, employment opportunities. Job 
openings and examinations will be publicized to the maximum extent necessary to 
assure equal employment opportunities. In recognition of the intent to recruit the 
most qualified individuals, the internal recruitment process discussed below will be 
utilized in conformance with other applicable regulations, procedures, and policies 
relating to the recruitment and selection of employees for promotional opportunities 
with the Authority. 
 
Section 2: Closed Recruitment 
 
As set forth below, closed competitive recruitment shall initially be utilized for all 
vacant positions that are within the bargaining unit.   
 
The Human Resources Department will prepare a notice of vacancy to be sent to 
each department for posting. The recruitment shall be open a minimum of five (5) 
working days. All interested employees must file a statement of qualifications with 
the Human Resources Department on or before the closing date. As determined 
within Management discretion, Employees may then be interviewed and tested if 
necessary, and if it is determined by Management that they meet the posted job 
requirements, a successful candidate will be elected from among the qualified 
applicants. 
 
In the event that no applications are received from employees at the expiration of 
the posting period, or if no qualified candidates are determined by Management, 
the Authority shall then proceed to open or public recruitment in accordance with 
Authority policies and procedures. 
 
Seniority shall be determinative for selection of a successful candidate only if all 
other job criteria are relatively equal. 
 
Section 3: Temporary Appointments 
 
Appointments or transfers may be made to temporarily fill a permanent position or a 
position which is not expected to become permanent. Temporary appointments are 
for a period of not less than two consecutive pay periods and shall not extend beyond 
nine hundred sixty (960) hours in a fiscal year. A temporary appointment is the 
continuous full-time assignment of performing the full range of the essential, 
significant, and distinguishing job functions of the temporary position. The 
Authority shall determine interest among employees by requesting a Statement of 
Interest for the position, utilizing the criteria contained in Article 3, Section 3, except 
for the provision to proceed to open or public recruitment. 
 

Exhibit A

12 of 75



9 | P a g e  

Regular employees temporarily assigned to such positions shall be returned to their 
previous classification and salary step upon completion of the temporary 
appointment. Regular employee seniority status quo shall be maintained within their 
department unit. Out of class pay is set forth in Article 13, Section 7 (following). 
 
Section 4: Initial and Promotional Probation Periods 
 
All employees newly hired by and appointed to permanent positions shall serve a 
probationary period of one (1) year from the date of permanent appointment to the 
class.  
 
All employees who are promoted from within the ranks of the Authority, or 
reclassified, shall serve a promotional probationary period of six (6) months from the 
date of permanent appointment to the new class.  
 
Any employee appointed to a previously held classification from a re-employment list 
shall not commence a new probationary period; however, such employee is subject 
to the provisions of this Article that extend a probationary period that had not been 
completed (prior to the layoff or reduction in force that resulted in their placement 
on the re-employment list). 
 
The probationary period shall be regarded as part of the recruitment and selection 
process.  
 
Section 5: Status and Evaluations During Probation Periods 
 
A. Evaluations During Probationary Periods 
 
All employees serving a probationary period shall have their performance evaluated 
regularly. Each evaluation shall cover a two-month evaluation period commencing 
from the first day of probation. Evaluations shall be completed and a copy provided 
to the employee approximately every sixty (60) days.  
 
B. Dismissal or Rejection During Probationary Period 
 
Employees serving an initial 12-month probationary period may be dismissed from 
employment, without cause and without right to a hearing or appeal, at any time 
during the probationary period. Employees serving a six (6) month promotional 
probation period may be rejected from probation in the new classification, without 
cause and without right to a hearing or appeal. If an employee is rejected from 
probation during a promotional probation period, that employee shall be returned to 
the employee’s previously held position (held prior to promotion or reclassification), 
provided the employee successfully completed the employee’s probationary period 
(initial or promotional) in that previously held classification. 
 
 

Exhibit A

13 of 75



10 | P a g e  

C. Extensions of Probationary Periods 
 
Any single or cumulative period of absence from work, with or without leave, of 120 
hours or more shall automatically extend the probationary period by the cumulative 
duration of the absence. In addition, the Authority may extend any initial 
probationary period for up to an additional 90 days, if, in its discretion, additional 
time is needed to fully evaluate or address specific job performance concerns.  
 
D. Successful Completion of Probation 
 
Upon successful completion of the probationary period, an employee shall become a 
regular employee in that classification. All probationary employees shall receive a 
salary step increase upon successful completion of their probationary period. 
 
Section 6: Employee Records 
 
A complete, separate personnel file shall be maintained for each regular employee. 
The employee file shall contain all pertinent employment forms and records; annual 
evaluations; written communications; written reprimands, and all other records and 
materials deemed necessary by practice, audit, law, or policy. 
 
Such records shall be maintained as confidential except for those specific records 
which are deemed as "public record." Employees shall have access to their personnel 
file upon request to the Human Resources Officer. Such access shall conform to the 
existing policies of the Authority. Employees shall have access and the right to inspect 
or copy any notes or documents within their file. on which the Authority relied within 
a disciplinary action or performance evaluation. 
 
Employees may formally request the selective removal of records from their 
personnel file regarding the following: 
 

1. Written reprimands more than three (3) years old. 
 
2. Other items not specifically identified above which are not required by 
policy, practice, law or audit. 

 
Requests for removal of such records shall be in writing, identifying the specific 
records to be removed. 
 
Section 7: Voluntary Resignation or Separation and Automatic Resignation 
from Service 
 
A. Voluntary Resignation or Separation 
Any employee may resign from employment, in writing. Employees resigning in this 
manner are requested, when possible, to provide at least two (2) weeks’ notice prior 
to their last workday. If requested by the employee, the Authority shall conduct an 
exit interview. The Authority may also request an exit interview, however employee 

Exhibit A

14 of 75



11 | P a g e  

participation in such interview shall be voluntary. An employee wishing to rescind the 
resignation may do so in writing within 24 hours from when the resignation was 
submitted. 
 
B. Automatic Resignation from Service 
Any employee who is absent for three consecutive workdays or more, without 
notifying the Authority of a need for the absence supported by appropriate 
documentation, or without authorization, whether with or without leave, may be 
deemed to have abandoned and automatically, voluntarily resigned from their 
employment with the Authority. Any such automatic resignation shall be 
automatically accepted by the Authority, and become effective, at the end of the 
regularly scheduled workday on the third day of absence. Prior to the third day of 
absence, the Authority shall make an attempt to contact the employee at their 
residence and through any emergency contact information provided by the employee. 
 
An employee deemed to have automatically resigned shall be provided with notice of 
the automatic resignation via certified mail and shall have five (5) workdays to 
provide a response. In the event an employee provides such a response, the 
Authority shall consider said response and determine whether, in the Authority’s sole 
discretion, the automatic resignation should be permitted to be rescinded. The 
Authority’s decision regarding rescinding an automatic resignation shall not be 
subject to further appeal. 
 
Nothing in this section shall preclude the Authority from proposing or taking 
disciplinary action against an employee for any period of unauthorized absence from 
work. 
 
Section 9: Duty to Consult 
 

Prior to a change in the scope of configuration of any Authority represented position 
currently listed on the position allocation schedule, the Authority agrees to notify 
het Union at least ninety (90) days in advance of any anticipated change, and to 
discuss any potential concern which may be inclusionary under the Meyers Millas 
Brown Act. 
 

ARTICLE 5 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 
Notwithstanding any of the items agreed to herein, nothing in this Memorandum of 
Understanding is intended to limit the management rights of the Authority, including, 
but not limited to the following: 
 

1. Direct the work of its employees; 
 
2. Hire, discharge, promote, demote, transfer, assign, and classify employees; 
to lay off employees for lack of work or funds; to assign work; to establish 
safety and other rules governing the operation of the Authority and the conduct 

Exhibit A

15 of 75



12 | P a g e  

of the employees. Nothing is intended in this Article to conflict with the other 
Articles of the contract. 
 
3. Discipline employees for proper cause; 
 
4. Take actions as may be necessary to carry out the mission of the Authority 
in emergencies; 
 
5. Determine the methods, means, and personnel by which operations are to 
be carried on; 
 
6. Determine the budget, organization, merits, necessity, and level of any 
activity or service provided to the public. 
 

ARTICLE 6 - NO INTERFERENCE; NO LOCKOUT 
 
Section 1: No Interference 
 
The Union and its officials will not, directly or indirectly, take part in any action 
against, or any interference with, the operations of the Authority during the term of 
this MOU. The Union will not engage in sympathy strikes during the term of this MOU. 
 
Section 2: No Lockout 
 
The Authority shall not conduct a lockout of its employees during the term of this 
MOU. 
 

ARTICLE 7 – NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 
The Authority will not interfere with or discriminate in any way against any employee 
by reason of their membership in, or activity required by this MOU, nor will the 
Authority discourage membership in the Union. 
 
The Union, in turn, recognizes its responsibility as the bargaining agent, and agrees 
to represent all Union member employees without discrimination, interference, 
restraint, or coercion. The terms of this MOU shall be applied equally to all Union 
member employees, without discrimination as to age (40 and over), sex, marital 
status, religion, race, color, creed, national origin, ancestry, mental or physical 
disability, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, gender expression, pregnancy, 
military or veteran status, genetic information, political affiliations, or any other 
status protected by state or federal law. 
 
The Union shall share equally with the Authority in the responsibility for applying this 
provision of the MOU. 
 

Exhibit A

16 of 75



13 | P a g e  

ARTICLE 8 - UNION STEWARDS AND REPRESENTATIVES 
 
The Authority recognizes and agrees to deal with the accredited Union stewards and 
representatives of the Union in all matters relating to grievances and the 
interpretation of this MOU. This specifically includes the Chapter board. The makeup 
of the Chapter board shall consist exclusively of regular employees of the Authority 
who are Union members and the Union Business Agent. Except for the Business 
Agent, no non-employee shall be considered as a part of the Chapter board. The 
Union shall provide the Authority with a list of those members who are on the Chapter 
board on an annual basis. 
 
A written list of the officers of the Union, and the Union stewards and the specific 
areas they represent, shall be furnished to the Authority immediately after their 
designation, and the Union shall notify the Authority promptly in writing of any 
changes of such Union officers or stewards. 
 
Section 1: Stewards 
 
The number of Union stewards shall not exceed four (4). Any change in the number 
of stewards shall be made by written consent of both parties to this MOU. Stewards 
shall be granted reasonable time during the workday to address representational 
issues. 
 
Section 2: Union Access 
 
Upon request to the Executive Director or the Executive Director’s designee, a 
representative of the AFSCME International or Local 2703 who represents an 
employee may visit Authority offices at a time mutually agreeable to both parties for 
the purpose of consultation. During such visits, the representatives may inspect any 
area pertinent to the subject of the consultation.   
 
A representative of the Authority, at its option, may accompany the parties.  
 
During such visits, representatives shall not in any way interfere with the orderly and 
efficient operation of the Authority workplace. 
 

ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE 
 
Section 1: Statements of Intent 
 
It is the intent of the parties to this MOU to anticipate and diminish causes of 
grievances, and to settle any which arise at the lowest practical level of supervision 
as fairly and promptly as possible. The purposes and objectives of a grievance 
procedure should include the following: 
 

Exhibit A

17 of 75



14 | P a g e  

1. Promote improved employer-employee relations by establishing grievance 
procedures on matters for which appeal or hearing is not provided by other 
regulations. 

 
2. Assure fair and equitable treatment of all employees, supervisors, and 
management. 

 
3. Allow employees a systematic means of obtaining further consideration of 
problems after every other reasonable effort has failed to resolve them through 
discussions. 

 
4. Encourage the settlement of disagreements informally at the 
employee-supervisor level, and provide an orderly procedure to handle 
grievances throughout the supervisory levels where necessary. 

 
5. Resolve grievances as quickly as possible, and correct, if possible, the 
causes of grievances, thereby reducing the number of grievances and future 
similar complaints. 

 
6. Provide that grievances shall be settled as near as possible to the point of 
origin. 

 
7. Provide that grievances shall be heard and settled as informally and timely 
as possible. 

 
Section 2: Definitions 
 
For the purpose of this grievance procedure, the following definitions shall apply: 
 
GRIEVANCE: Any dispute between (a) the parties of this MOU, or (b) the Authority 
and the employee or employees with respect to the meaning, interpretation, or 
application of working conditions, policies, written rules, or work-related 
occurrences, which are within the scope of representation. 
 
DIRECTOR: The Executive Director of the Authority or the Executive Director’s 
designated representative. 
 
IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR: The individual who assigns, reviews, and directly 
supervises the routine work of an aggrieved employee. 
 
DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR: The management person designated by the Executive 
Director to have administrative and fiduciary responsibility for a specific agency 
department. 
 
CHAIN OF COMMAND: A progressive, structured interaction with designated 
supervisorial and managerial staff, beginning with the employee's immediate 
supervisor and continuing in an identifiable recourse of management personnel of 

Exhibit A

18 of 75



15 | P a g e  

increasing jurisdiction and authority, ultimately resulting in direct access to a 
Department Director or Director of the agency. 
 
UNION REPRESENTATIVE: Any person who is authorized to officially represent 
the local Union bargaining unit, including employee Union stewards. 
 
AUTHORITY: Refers to the Housing Authority of the County of Merced. 
 
UNION: Refers to the American Federation of State, County and Municipal 
Employees, Local 2703, AFL-CIO. 
 
UNION CHAPTER BOARD: A Chapter board shall be recognized as an authorized 
Agent of the Union, and shall consist exclusively of regular employees of the 
Authority who are Union members, as well as the Union Business Agent. 
 
Section 3: Grievance Procedures 
 
Upon request of the aggrieved employee, a steward or Union officer may investigate 
the specified grievance and assist in its presentation. The aggrieved employee shall 
be allowed reasonable time during working hours without loss of time or pay for such 
activity, subject to prior notification and approval of the aggrieved employee’s 
immediate supervisor and with the concurrence of the Executive Director or the 
Executive Director’s designee.  
 
The aggrieved employee may have the assistance of a Union Steward at all stages of 
the Grievance Procedure. The aggrieved employee and the aggrieved employee’s 
Steward shall not suffer a loss of pay or benefits while meeting with management 
during the presentation of a grievance or any formal processes under this section. 
Grievance meetings shall be scheduled at such a time as not to interfere with the 
operation of the Authority. The Authority and Union agree that Authority -paid 
employee participation in grievances affecting more than one employee shall be 
limited, at all stages of this grievance procedure, only to the minimum number of 
employees necessary to present the issue(s) (duplicative participation will be 
avoided.) If the employee or Union fails to follow any of the timelines for initiating or 
advancing the grievance, it shall be deemed resolved and withdrawn.  In the event 
that additional response time is needed by the Union or Authority a timely request 
may be made; such extension shall not exceed ten (10) working days. Grievances 
will be processed in the following manner and within the stated time limits (time 
limits are jurisdictional):  
 
Step 1 - Informal Procedure:  
 
Informal grievances shall be presented orally or in writing to the aggrieved 
employee’s immediate supervisor within ten (10) working days following the 
occurrence of events on which the grievance is based, or within ten (10) working 
days from when the affected employee knows or should have known about the facts 
or causes giving rise to the grievance. The aggrieved employee’s supervisor shall 
deliver an official response to the employee within five (5) working days from the 

Exhibit A

19 of 75



16 | P a g e  

date the grievance was presented to the supervisor by the employee as a grievable 
matter. This informal discussion should be pursued as far a possible toward the 
resolution of the grievance at this preliminary level before proceeding to the formal 
grievance procedure. A grievance that is of such a nature it cannot be resolved at the 
Informal level shall be elevated to the level where resolution can be reached. 
 
If no response is received, or if the aggrieved employee is dissatisfied with the 
response, he or she may appeal the response through Step 2 – Formal Grievance 
Procedure, Appeal to Department Head.  
 
Step 2 – Formal Grievance Procedure, Appeal to Department Head:  
 
If an employee and the employee’s immediate supervisor cannot reach an agreement 
as to a resolution of the grievance, or the aggrieved employee has not received a 
written decision from the aggrieved employee’s immediate supervisor within the five 
(5) working day limit, the aggrieved employee shall, within five (5) working days, 
present the aggrieved employee’s grievance in writing, specifying the subject of the 
grievance, and the aggrieved employee’s requested resolution or mitigation of the 
grievance situation, dated and signed, to the aggrieved employee’s Department 
Head. The Department Head shall schedule a meeting with the aggrieved employee 
and the aggrieved employee's representative at a mutually agreed upon location and 
time to discuss the grievance. Within five (5) working days after the filing of the 
appeal; or within five (5) working days after the meeting, if held; the Department 
Head shall give the Department Head’s written decision to the aggrieved employee. 
 
If no response is received, or if the aggrieved employee is dissatisfied with the 
response, the aggrieved employee may appeal the response through Step 3 – Formal 
Grievance Procedure, Appeal to Executive Director.  
 
Step 3 – Formal Grievance Procedure, Appeal to Executive Director:  
 
If the aggrieved employee and the Department Head cannot reach a mutually-
acceptable resolution of the grievance, or the employee has not received a decision 
from the Department Head within the timeframes provided for in Step 2, the 
employee may, within five (5) working days, present the employee’s grievance in 
writing to the Executive Director. The grievance shall be presented to the Executive 
Director or the Executive Director’s designated representative, along with all 
pertinent written materials to date. 
 
Within ten (10) working days of the receipt of such grievance, the Executive Director 
or the Executive Director’s designated representative, shall arrange a meeting with 
the aggrieved employee and their representative, at a mutually agreeable location 
and time, to discuss the grievance. The Executive Director or the Executive Director’s 
designated representative will issue a written decision within ten (10) working days 
following the date the grievance is filed at Step 3 or within ten (10) working days 
following the aforesaid meeting, if held, whichever is later.  
 

Exhibit A

20 of 75



17 | P a g e  

If no response is received, or if the aggrieved employee is dissatisfied with the 
response, the aggrieved employee may appeal the response through Step 4 –Appeal 
to Arbitration.  
 
Step 4 – Appeal to Arbitration: 
 
Appeals to Arbitration for grievances or disciplinary actions shall be submitted in 
writing within five (5) working days after the Executive Director's response or the 
response of the “Skelly” officer is given.  
 
Within five (5) working days after the filing of such appeal, the Authority shall request 
a list of seven (7) neutrals from the California State Mediation and Conciliation 
Service (CSMCS). Any fee for such list will be borne equally between the Parties. The 
Parties may agree on an Arbitrator, but if no agreement is reached, each party shall 
in turn cross off one (1) name on the list. The order of striking shall be initially 
determined by the toss of a coin, and alternated in subsequent selections. The final 
name left on the list shall be selected to hear the case. At the arbitration hearing, the 
aggrieved employee may be accompanied by the Union representatives of the 
aggrieved employee’s choice, which may include but are not limited to the steward, 
the Business Agent, and the Union’s legal counsel.  
 
Both the aggrieved employee and the Authority have the right to present documents 
and other evidence, and call, and cross-examine witnesses. Formal rules of evidence 
shall not apply, however all evidence must be relevant and may not be the subject 
of a protected privilege, such as attorney-client privilege. The decision of the 
Arbitrator shall be in writing and shall be final and binding on both parties. 
 
The Arbitrator shall have no authority to add, delete, or alter any provision of this 
MOU, but shall limit the Arbitrator’s decision to the scope, application, and 
interpretation of the provisions of this MOU, and shall make no decision in violation 
of existing law. 
 
The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator and Court Reporter shall be shared equally 
by both parties hereto. In case of a grievance involving any money claim against the 
Authority, no award shall be made by the Arbitrator which shall allow any alleged 
accruals prior to the date when such grievance shall have been presented to the 
Authority in writing except in the case whereby the employee or Union, due to lack 
of knowledge, could not know prior to that date that there were grounds for a claim. 
In such cases, retroactive claims shall be limited to a period of sixty (60) calendar 
days prior to the date the claim was first filed in writing. 

ARTICLE 10 - DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL 
 
Section 1: Scope & Purpose 
 
The Union and the Authority recognize that both the Authority and employees share 
in the responsibility for keeping their respective departments operating in a safe, 
efficient, effective, and orderly manner. Both the Union and the Authority also 

Exhibit A

21 of 75



18 | P a g e  

recognize that certain types of conduct jeopardize the safe, efficient, effective, and 
orderly operation of the Authority. 
 
Section 2: Discipline 
 
Formal disciplinary action or measures shall include only the following:  
 

1. Written Reprimand;  
2. Reduction In Pay; 
3. Suspension; and 
4. Dismissal. 

 
Any disciplinary action against an employee shall be done in a manner that attempts 
to minimize the employee’s embarrassment before other employees or the public. 
 
In any meeting, interview, or other pre-disciplinary proceeding in which the employee 
reasonably believes that questioning could lead to disciplinary action; or at any stage 
of disciplinary proceedings after the Notice of Intent to impose a disciplinary action 
is issued to an employee; such employee has the right to be accompanied by a 
representative of their own choosing. It is solely the employee’s obligation to request 
representation, if desired. 
 
Section 3: Written Reprimand 
 
If the Authority finds that an offense is not serious enough for suspension or other 
formal action(s), a written reprimand may be given to the employee. A written 
reprimand is a formal, written communication to an employee from a supervisor. All 
written reprimands will be clearly labeled as such; will be signed by both the 
employee and the supervisor, and will be placed in the employee's personnel file. The 
employee may file a rebuttal to the reprimand within seven (7) working days of 
signing, which will be attached to the reprimand in the employee's personnel file.  
 
Section 4: Reduction In Pay 
 
A reduction in pay may be assessed against an employee where such a sanction is 
deemed appropriate by either of the following: 
 

1. Reducing the employee one (1) or more steps within a salary range, or: 
 

2. Reducing the compensation paid to an employee for a fixed period of time 
for disciplinary purposes. 

 
Section 5: Suspensions 
 
Any employee may be suspended without pay for disciplinary purposes for one or 
more causes, per Section 7 of this Article. 
 

Exhibit A

22 of 75



19 | P a g e  

Section 6: Dismissal 
 
Dismissal is the permanent separation of an employee from active employment status 
with the Authority.  
 
Section 7: Conduct That May Result In Disciplinary Action 
 
Any regular employee may be suspended, subject to dismissal, for one (1) or more 
of the following causes: 
 

1. Violation of any of the Authority's rules, regulations, or policies; 
 

2. Incompetency; 
 

3. Dishonesty; 
 

4. Insubordination; 
 

5. Inexcusable absence without leave; 
 

6. Refusal or repeated failure to perform the normal and reasonable duties of 
the position; 

 
7. Immorality; 

 
8. Conviction of a felony or of any crime involving moral turpitude; 

 
9. Misuse of the Authority’s property; 

 
10. Any other failure of good behavior or acts during duty hours which are not 
compatible or are inimical to public services; 

 
11. Being under the influence of drugs or alcohol while on duty; and 

 
12. Failure to possess a valid California driver's license, if the license is required 
in the job description. 

 
The foregoing conduct is not meant to be all-inclusive. 
 
Except in cases of a written reprimand, immediately following the decision to impose 
formal disciplinary actions listed within this Article, the Authority shall notify the 
employee and the Union representative in writing of the proposed action, and the 
employee's due process rights. 
 
Any employee found to be unjustly suspended or dismissed shall be reinstated with 
full compensation for all lost time, and with full restoration of all other rights and 
conditions of employment. 
 

Exhibit A

23 of 75



20 | P a g e  

Section 8: Notice of Proposed Discipline, Disciplinary Action, and Appeal 
Procedure 
 
Initial Notice of Intended Disciplinary Action and Skelly Rights.  
Prior to the imposition of proposed disciplinary action, the department head or the 
department head’s designee shall give written notice to the employee. The written 
notice of intended disciplinary action shall be personally delivered to the employee or 
sent to the employee by certified mail to the employee's last known mailing address. 
If mailed, service shall be deemed complete five (5) calendar days after mailing, or 
the date signed for, whichever is earlier. The contents of the written notice shall 
include, but need not be limited to, the following: 
 

1.  A statement in ordinary and concise language outlining the specific 
violations of department or Authority rules, regulations, ordinances, 
policies, or any state or federal law that the employee is alleged to have 
violated. 

 
2.  The contemplated disciplinary action. 
 
3. A notice that the employee may request to review all materials relied upon 

by the Authority in support of the proposed discipline, including but not 
limited to: tape recordings, reports, memorandums, transcripts, witness 
statements, and all other available materials and evidence. 

 
4.  Notice that the employee may request a pre-disciplinary “Skelly” meeting 

within five (5) working days of receipt of the intended disciplinary action 
notice. Such request must be made in writing and addressed to the 
Executive Director or other designee as identified in the Notice. The pre-
disciplinary hearing may be waived by the employee, either by written 
waiver or by failure to submit the written request for pre-disciplinary 
hearing within the time allowed. The pre-disciplinary hearing shall be held 
as soon as practicable before the Authority’s Executive Director or the 
Executive Director’s designee as the Skelly Officer. The employee shall be 
afforded a reasonable opportunity to respond orally or in writing at the 
Skelly meeting.  

 
Final Notice of Disciplinary Action. 
Within ten (10) working days following the pre-disciplinary hearing, or as soon after 
as reasonably possible if the disciplinary action is still contemplated, the Skelly 
Hearing Officer shall serve upon the employee a final determination after the Skelly 
meeting. If a proposed disciplinary action is sustained, the determination shall include 
Notice of Disciplinary Action setting forth the decision of the Skelly hearing officer 
and an order of discipline, which shall include the effective date of the disciplinary 
action.  
 
Effective Date of Discipline. 
Discipline imposed pursuant to this section shall not be effective until either (a) the 
employee waives or does not request a Skelly hearing within five (5) working days 

Exhibit A

24 of 75



21 | P a g e  

of receiving Notice of the intended disciplinary action; or, (b) the date that the Skelly 
Hearing Officer provides Notice of their determination after hearing in the Notice of 
Final Disciplinary Action to the employee, whichever is later. 
 
Administrative Appeals Process. 
Any final disciplinary action involving the equivalent of a loss of pay of ten (10) 
workdays or less may be appealed to the Executive Director. Any final disciplinary 
action greater than a ten (10) workday suspension without pay, or equivalent, may 
be appealed to Arbitration. An appeal of disciplinary action must be made in writing 
and must be received by the Executive Director within five (5) working days of the 
discipline becoming effective. If an employee fails to appeal within the prescribed five 
(5) working day time period, all further appeal steps are waived. Time requirements 
in this Section are jurisdictional. 
 
If the employee timely files an appeal to arbitration of disciplinary action in writing, 
the Executive Director shall initiate the procedures outlined in Article 8, Section 4, 
Step 4 of the Grievance procedure (Appeal to Arbitration). 
 
Section 9: Inapplicability To Probationary Employees 
 
In reference to this Article, the term "regular" employee shall not include 
probationary employees. Any probationary employee may be dismissed by the 
Authority without cause and without recourse by the employee. However, the 
Authority shall maintain the confidentiality of the reasons for discharge limited only 
to those who need to know and only to the extent allowed by law. 

ARTICLE 11 - TRANSFERS, LAYOFFS & RECALL 
 
Section 1: Transfers 
 
Whenever a vacancy in any one of the job classifications occurs as a result of 
retirement, termination, or resignation, the Authority shall post a notice of such 
vacancy on all work sites for a period of five (5) working days. This notice shall inform 
employees that the Authority will accept a Statement of Qualifications from regular 
employees in the same job classification as the vacant position for transfer to the 
vacant position. All Statement of Qualifications for transfer to the vacant position 
shall be submitted in writing to the Human Resources Department. 
 
The Authority shall not otherwise advertise the vacant position or attempt to fill the 
vacant position until the period of time for Statement of Qualifications for transfer 
specified in the notice has expired. In the event two (2) or more qualified regular 
employees in the same job position or classification as the vacant position submit a 
Statement of Qualifications to transfer to the vacant position, the Department 
Director having jurisdiction over the vacant position shall make a recommendation to 
the Executive Director as to a final selection for the vacancy, including a potential 
recommendation that no transfer of an employee occur. 
 

Exhibit A

25 of 75



22 | P a g e  

Section 2: Layoff & Recall 
 
The process relating to layoff and recall of regular employees shall include but not be 
limited to the following: order of layoff; reinstatement; reduction in force; seniority 
within classifications; maintenance of eligibility lists; procedures for recall; and 
benefits upon retirement. The decision to implement layoffs and the application or 
interpretation of this section (Article 10, Section 2) shall be appealable only as 
provided for in this Article, and shall be appealable only to the Executive Director, 
within ten (10) calendar days of the date the employee receives notice of the layoff. 
 
A. Layoff & Reduction In Force 
 
(a) Prior to the layoff of any regular employee for lack of work, reorganization, or 
purposes of economy, if such employee cannot be readily accommodated by transfer 
or reclassification to an open position for which they are qualified, then the order of 
layoff shall commence with all employees within the following positions to be 
furloughed, subject to recall as funding permits: 
 

1. Seasonal employees. 
 

2. Contract, extra-help employees. 
 

3. Any regular employee identified for layoff may claim unilateral seniority over 
any probationary employee in the same classification. 
4.  Any full-time regular employee identified for layoff may claim unilateral 
seniority over any part-time regular employee in the same classification. 

 
(b) If none of the above order of layoff is applicable, regular employees will be laid 
off according to seniority within a department in accordance with the following: 
 

1. Seniority within the affected classification will be determinative, except as 
noted. 

 
2. A regular employee designated to be laid off may bump into a lower 
classification for which they are qualified. 

 
3. The length of service in a series of regular classifications within a department 
shall be counted toward establishing seniority in the employee's present 
classification. 
4. Prior time with the Authority for an employee who has a break in service, 
or who has transferred to another department shall not be counted in 
determining seniority within classification in the department except when all 
other factors have been considered and the seniority dates are equal, then 
previous agency service shall be counted in determining seniority. 

 
5. If all of the above are equal and two or more employees have identical 
seniority, then previous agency service shall be counted in determining 
seniority. 

Exhibit A

26 of 75



23 | P a g e  

 
6. A regular employee who voluntarily demotes or transfers pursuant to 
"bumping" criteria above shall, in the order of seniority, retain the right to fill 
the first vacancy in the classification from which they demoted or transferred, 
for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of demotion or transfer. 
The salary step of an employee that returns to the classification from which he 
or she demoted or transferred shall be the same as the salary step that the 
employee earned immediately prior to the demotion or transfer. 

 
7. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, if the Executive Director determines 
that the public interest will not be served by the above criteria, the Executive 
Director may depart therefrom on the basis of a clearly demonstrable 
superiority in performance or qualifications. In such case, the Executive 
Director shall notify the employee to be laid off and such employee shall have 
the right to a formal grievance hearing with (and limited to) the Executive 
Director (Step 3) per Section 3 of Article 8, of the formal grievance procedure. 

 
Written notice of layoff shall be served on affected employees in person or by certified 
mail at least 30 calendar days prior to the date of action. If notice is served on 
affected employees by certified mail, said notice shall be deemed effective upon 
issuance of the registry receipt. In the event an employee elects to transfer or demote 
in lieu of layoff pursuant to the preceding parts of this Section, the affected employee 
must notify the Executive Director within seven (7) working days of their receipt of 
their layoff notice. 
 
(c) Any employee who involuntarily transfers or demotes to another job classification 
as specified in this Section, shall have their salary adjusted as follows: 
 
The assigned salary shall be either: 1) the step within the new salary range which is 
closest to the employee's current salary, or 2) if the current salary exceeds the new 
salary range, a 'Y'-rate shall be established at 90% of the employee's current salary 
step which shall not subsequently increase during continuous regular service until the 
maximum of the new salary range exceeds the 'Y'-rated base salary of the employee 
at the time of transfer or demotion. Longevity increases shall be in addition to the 
new base salary calculations above. 
 
Employees "bumped" pursuant to this Section are subject to and shall have the same 
rights with respect to less senior employees as set forth in this Section. 
 
When deemed necessary and directed by the Board of Commissioners, a reduction in 
the Authority work force may be initiated due to: (a) lack of work; (b) lack of funds; 
or (c) program or organizational changes resulting in a surplus of employees, or 
elimination of a specific program or services. Insofar as possible, a reduction in force 
shall be accomplished by attrition. 
 
When it is determined by the Commissioners that attrition will not provide sufficient 
relief for the condition warranting a reduction in the number of employees, the Board 
may direct a specific layoff by department(s). For the purposes of this MOU, a 

Exhibit A

27 of 75



24 | P a g e  

department is defined as an employee grouping under the authority of a single 
department director. A listing of department units can be found in Article 11, Section 
2, "Seniority". Employee layoffs resulting from a reduction in force shall be in 
accordance with previous criteria of this Section. 
 
Upon a determination by the Authority that one or more regular employees are to be 
laid off, the Authority shall provide written notice of that determination to the Union. 
 
B. Maintenance of Eligibility Lists, Seniority, And Procedures For Recall 
 
In the event of a layoff of one or more employees, a list of employees laid off or 
demoted as a result of a reduction in force shall be maintained. This list shall be in 
descending order of service seniority within a department unit as outlined in the 
preceding subsection "A". Seniority of an employee within a classification or 
department unit shall be calculated on the basis of the number of consecutive payroll 
periods in which the employee was regularly employed or on an approved paid leave 
status. Employees with the longest service time within a department unit shall be 
considered for reemployment within their department ahead of those with less 
seniority until such time as the list expires. 
 
Each eligible former employee shall remain on the list for twenty-four (24) months 
from the effective date of the layoff or demotion. Former employees will be 
responsible for keeping the Authority advised, in writing, of a current address. When 
notified in writing by return receipt mail that they will be re-employed, former 
employees must return to work within twelve (12) calendar days of the mailing of 
said notice, unless otherwise mutually agreed upon, or they will be removed from the 
list. 
 
All employees who have been demoted in lieu of layoff or who maintain eligibility on 
a reemployment list shall be eligible to compete in any promotional exam. All 
employees eligible for reemployment with the agency shall be considered for 
vacancies in other departments when those vacancies occur in the same or similar 
classifications from which they were laid off. 
 
Employees on any reemployment list may accept a vacancy in a lower comparable 
job classification in which they have had prior work experience and are otherwise 
qualified to perform the essential job functions of the position. Employees at the top 
of any hire list have a right of first refusal for any vacancy for which they are qualified. 
If this right of first refusal is not exercised by the person ranking highest on the 
reemployment list, it shall pass in descending order by seniority to the other persons 
on the reemployment list, subject to these same conditions. Employees who are 
offered and accept appointment to a lower or comparable job classification retain the 
right to fill the first vacancy which occurs in the classification in which they were laid 
off. The appointment of an eligible employee to a permanent position from a 
reemployment list shall be subject to a demonstration of fitness by the recalled 
employee for the performance of essential functions of the job, at the discretion of 
the Authority. 
 

Exhibit A

28 of 75



25 | P a g e  

C. Benefits Upon Reinstatement Following A Reduction In Force 
 
Upon reemployment in the classification from which the employee held previous 
regular status and was laid off, the employee shall be reemployed on the same step 
in the same range as at the time of layoff. Seniority at the time of layoff shall be 
recognized upon reemployment for the purposes of determining merit increases, 
vacation accruals, and future reduction in force status. Sick leave accruals at the time 
of layoff, if any, shall be reinstated upon re-employment. 
 
If the employee chooses to be reemployed in a lower classification for which the 
employee may have seniority status, and which has a salary range lower than the 
classification from which the employee was laid off, then salary placement shall be 
at the lower classification level. 
 
Any employee, who is reemployed by the Authority in accordance with Section 2 of 
this Article, shall be reinstated with the seniority the employee had at the time of 
layoff. Any such employee shall have the additional right to repurchase sick leave or 
vacation leave paid to the employee by the Authority at the time of layoff, providing 
such repurchase is completed within sixty (60) calendar days following 
reemployment. Any such employee shall have the additional right to repurchase the 
employee’s retirement benefits that were paid to the employee upon layoff, subject 
to any conditions imposed upon such reinstatement by PERS, and further providing 
that the Authority incurs no cost whatsoever in connection therewith. 
 

ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 
 
Section 1: Definition 
 
Seniority is the length of continuous paid employment of a regular employee, 
excluding probationary employees, within a classification or series within a 
department. 
 
Section 2: Accrual of Seniority 
 
Time on unpaid leave or suspension shall not be included in calculating seniority. 
Time that an employee is on an authorized medical disability leave under any State 
or Federal leave entitlement for which benefit entitlements are being coordinated with 
the employee's vacation, sick, or compensatory time off shall be included in 
calculating Seniority. 
 
The following classification units shall be utilized for calculating seniority accruals for 
the purposes of reductions in force, promotions, transfers, or other applicable 
situations in accordance with the criteria contained in Article 10 of this MOU: 
 

1. Administration; 
 

2. Finance; 

Exhibit A

29 of 75



26 | P a g e  

3. HCV; 
 

4. Housing Services; 
 

5. Human Resources; and 
 

6. Development. 
 
Seniority shall be accrued by contract position except that any employee who 
transfers from one contract position to another shall be allowed to maintain any 
accrued seniority. 
 
Section 3: Loss of Seniority 
 
A regular employee shall lose the employee’s seniority for the following reasons: 
 

1. Dismissal; 
 

2. Resignation; 
  

3. Failure to return to work when recalled from layoff, as set forth within the 
recall procedure in Article 10, Section 2, subsection (C); 

 
4. Failure to return to work after expiration of a formal leave of absence; 

 
5. Retirement; or  

 
6. Layoff for a continuous period of more than twenty-four (24) calendar 
months. 

 
Section 4: Probationary Employees 
 
When an employee successfully completes the employee’s probationary period, the 
employee’s seniority shall begin from the original date of hire within the employee’s 
classification unit. 
 
Section 5: Promotion 
 
In all cases of promotion, the criteria in Article 3, Section 3 shall be determinative. 
In the situation where length of service within a classification is identical for two or 
more employees, then seniority shall be determined by the length of continuous paid 
employment with the Authority from the original date of hire. 
 
Promotional examinations shall be open to all regular employees who meet the basic 
qualifications for the higher position. Any employee, upon promotion, shall be entitled 
to receive in the position to which the employee is promoted, the rate of 
compensation at the next higher salary step than that received by the employee prior 

Exhibit A

30 of 75



27 | P a g e  

to the promotion, provided that the amount of increase shall be at least equal to a 
five percent (5%) base salary increase. 
 
Job postings and examinations shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures 
outlined in Article 3, Section 3, "Closed Recruitments". Within any job examination 
process, all employees who meet the minimum qualifications of a higher job 
classification covered by this MOU shall be eligible for the job-related examination 
process. 
 
The effective date of any salary change shall be the beginning of the next payroll 
period following the approved date of change. 
 
Section 6: Seniority Lists 
 
The Authority shall prepare and maintain a seniority list which shall show the names, 
classification, title, seniority unit, and seniority date of all employees. The Union shall 
be given two (2) copies of the list within thirty (30) calendar days after the effective 
date of this MOU, and thereafter, a current list every six (6) months. 
 
These lists shall be deemed correct as to the employee's seniority date, unless the 
employee or the steward for the employee notifies the Authority to the contrary in 
writing within ten (10) calendar days after a list is given to the Union. 
 

ARTICLE 13 - ANNUAL (VACATION) LEAVE 
 
Section 1: Accrual 
 
All full-time, regular employees shall earn annual leave at the following rates: 
 

1. 3.08 hours per biweekly period for five (5) years or less of consecutive 
service (10 days per year). 

 
2. 4.62 hours per biweekly period after five (5) years of consecutive service 

(15 days per year). 
 

3. 6.16 hours per biweekly period after ten (10) years of consecutive service 
(20 days per year). 

 
4. 7.70 hours per biweekly period after fifteen (15) consecutive years of 

service (25 days per year). 
 
All part-time, regular employees shall earn leave on a pro-rated basis. The pro-rated 
annual leave value is calculated by multiplying the corresponding values listed above 
for full-time, regular employees by the percentage factor derived by dividing the 
usual number of hours worked by the part-time employee within a biweekly payroll 
period by 80 hours. 
 

Exhibit A

31 of 75



28 | P a g e  

Annual leave shall accrue. No annual leave, however, shall be taken by a probationary 
employee prior to completion of ninety (90) calendar days after initial employment. 
 
Annual leave earned but not taken may accrue to a maximum of one hundred sixty 
(160) working hours during the first five (5) years of employment; up to a maximum 
of two hundred forty (240) working hours through the fifteenth (15) year of 
employment; and up to a maximum of three hundred twenty (320) working hours 
thereafter. The Authority agrees to allow employees to take time off at any time 
during the month in which they could exceed their designated maximum accrual limit. 
Employees shall make all reasonable efforts to minimize any disruption of or 
inconvenience to Authority operations resulting from the mandated use of annual 
leave in this regard. The Authority further agrees that any employee utilizing leave 
for such purpose will not be harassed or adversely sanctioned for exercising this right. 
 
In the event that the leave has been denied for emergency reasons, hours in excess 
of the leave cap shall be paid at the regular hourly rate of pay. The Authority can 
require an employee whose hours are meeting or exceeding the maximum to take 
such time off as to bring them to their maximum accrual. 
 
Section 2: Scheduling 
 
The time at which an employee shall take annual leave shall be approved by the 
employee’s Department Director for leave requests up to three (3) days in length, 
with due regard for the wishes of the employee and regard for the needs of the 
Authority. Any leaves longer than three (3) days shall be approved by the Executive 
Director, with due regard for the wishes of the employee and regard for the needs of 
the Authority. 
 
All employees shall make written request for vacation lasting one (1) week or longer, 
at least two (2) weeks prior to the beginning of the requested vacation. 
 
An employee’s supervisor shall respond to an employee vacation request within five 
(5) workdays after receiving the request, by returning a copy of the request form and 
indicating whether the request is approved or denied.  
 
If an employee vacation request is denied, the supervisor shall indicate any 
operational reasons for the inability to approve the requested time off. 
 
Annual leave shall not be taken in any amount less than in multiples of one-half (1/2) 
hour. Annual leave for periods longer than three (3) weeks will be discouraged. 
Exceptions may be made under certain conditions at the discretion of the Executive 
Director. 
 
Section 3: Annual Leave Cash-Out 
 
During employment, an Employee may elect to receive cash in lieu of accrued 
vacation leave at one hundred percent (100%) of the Employee’s base hourly rate, 
subject to the following restrictions: 

Exhibit A

32 of 75



29 | P a g e  

 
a. An employee may elect to cash up to eighty (80) hours of accrued vacation as long 
as after the cash out, a minimum of sixty (60) hours remain in the employee’s 
vacation accrual bank. 
 
b. An Employee wishing to receive cash in lieu of accrued vacation leave must submit 
an irrevocable written election by September 30 of the fiscal year prior to the fiscal 
year in which the Employee wishes to redeem accrued vacation leave for cash.  An 
Employee who does not make an affirmative election by the end of the fiscal year 
shall be deemed to have irrevocably elected not to receive cash in lieu of vacation 
leave during the subsequent fiscal year. 
 
c. An employee’s written election must specify the number of accrued vacation hours, 
not to exceed the employee’s maximum annual accrual, which the Employee wishes 
to redeem for cash in the following fiscal year. 
 
d. After an Employee makes an irrevocable election, the Employee may request 
payment for accrued vacation hours on a quarterly basis.  Requests to redeem 
accrued vacation time must be submitted, in writing, at least two weeks prior to the 
end of the quarter.  
 
e. If an Employee does not request payment for the full amount of vacation time 
elected for cash out, the District shall unilaterally cash out the remainder of the 
vacation leave elected for cash-out at the end of the fiscal year, to the extent the 
Employee has leave accrued during that fiscal year available. 
 
f. Only vacation leave hours already accrued in the fiscal year for which an election 
was made may be cashed out under this provision.  Voluntary cash-out for vacation 
leave accrued in a previous year is not allowed. 
 
Section 4- Payment At Termination 
 
An employee whose service is terminated shall be entitled to receive the equivalent 
amount of pay for annual leave accrued. 
 

ARTICLE 14 - SALARIES 
 
Section 1: Basic Salary Schedule 
 
The Authority shall increase the salary for all members of the bargaining unit during 
the term of this MOU as follows: 
 

1. 2.0% increase to base pay effective the first pay period following ratification 
by the membership and approval of the MOU by the Board of 
Commissioners. 
 

2. 2.0% increase to base pay effective February 1, 2021. 

Exhibit A

33 of 75



30 | P a g e  

3. 2.0% increase to base pay effective February 1, 2022. 
  
Section 2: Increases Within Range 
 
Every regular employee who was hired prior to July 1, 1996, shall hereafter have an 
anniversary date of July 1st. Regular employees who are hired after July 1, 1996, 
shall have an anniversary date coinciding with the calendar date of their hire with the 
Authority. Regular employees with a July 1st anniversary date who are promoted or 
reclassified to a position with a higher salary range, and are required to serve a 
designated probationary period, shall have a new anniversary date commensurate 
with the date of the initial promotion or reclassification. 
 
Advancement to the next or higher salary steps shall not be considered prior to one 
year from the designated anniversary date except for probationary employees. 
Probationary employees shall receive only one (I) interim merit step increase upon 
the successful completion of their probation within the terms of this MOU, and shall 
not be considered for further merit increase prior to completion of twenty-six (26) 
biweekly payroll periods from the effective anniversary date. 
 
Denial of a merit step increase shall not be construed as a disciplinary action. 
Advancements shall be based on satisfactory work performance. 
 
Section 3: Effective Date of Change 
 
The effective date of any interim salary change shall be the beginning of the next 
payroll period following the approved effective date of the change, the employee’s 
annual anniversary date, or the contract’s effective date. 
Section 4: New or Changed Classifications within the Bargaining Unit 
 
In the event a new classification is established in the bargaining unit, or an existing 
classification is changed in the bargaining unit, the Authority shall assign it a salary 
rate on the basis of the relative value of the elements of the new or changed 
classification in comparison with the elements of the existing classifications. 
 
The Authority shall provide the Union with a written classification description of the 
new or changed classification at least ten (10) days prior to the effective date. 
 
Upon receipt of the job description and assigned salary rate, the President of the 
Union or President’s designated representative, and not more than two (2) other 
employees or representatives of the Union, shall be afforded the opportunity to 
discuss the new or changed classification, assignment, and assigned salary rate with 
the Executive Director or the Executive Director's designated representative. If the 
Union does not request a meeting or file a grievance at Step 3 of the grievance and 
arbitration procedure within five (5) calendar days of the receipt of the Authority's 
recommendation, it shall be deemed to be approved by the Union. 
 
If there is disagreement with the new job description, assignment, or the assigned 
salary rate, the provisions of Article 8 of the MOU shall apply commencing at Step 3. 

Exhibit A

34 of 75



31 | P a g e  

Section 5: Reemployment 
 
Any former employee reemployed in a classification from which the former employee 
was separated in good standing, may be appointed to the same step of the salary 
range for the specific job classification as the step the former employee occupied at 
the effective date of the former employee’s resignation, provided the reemployment 
takes place within six (6) months. The former employee must meet all other job 
criteria. 
 
Section 6: Method of Computing Hourly Wage 
 
Regular employees employed for less than a full pay period shall be paid at an hourly 
rate for the actual hours worked, plus additional pay for any holiday hours, including 
Saturday and Sunday, which are within this MOU. Pay will be allowed for any hours 
of unused, earned sick or vacation leaves. The hourly rate shall be determined by the 
following formula: Annual salary divided by 2080 = hourly rate. 
 

𝐴𝑛𝑛𝑢𝑎𝑙 𝑆𝑎𝑙𝑎𝑟𝑦
2080

𝐻𝑜𝑢𝑟𝑙𝑦 𝑅𝑎𝑡𝑒 

Section 7: Out of Class Pay 
 
The Authority may require that employees work out of classification. Upon specific 
appointment by management, with Executive Director approval, an employee may 
be required to perform the essential duties of a position in a higher classification due 
to a temporary vacancy. For purposes of this section, "working out of class" means 
that an employee is appointed by management, with Executive Director approval, to 
continuously perform the essential, significant, and distinguishing job duties of the 
higher classification in a vacant position on a temporary basis. Out of class payment 
shall begin after completion of five (5) consecutive working days in the higher 
classification. In the event an out of classification appointment exceeds five (5) 
consecutive working days, payment for the out of class work shall be retroactive to 
the first day of assuming the position. Payment for such out of class work shall be 
five percent (5%) above the regular base pay of the employee. 
 
No employee shall be worked out of class for more than nine hundred sixty (960) 
hours per fiscal year. Upon return to the employee’s previous classification, the 
employee will be placed back at the salary step and status as if the employee had 
not worked out of classification. 
 
Section 8: Uniforms 
 
The Authority will provide five (5) uniforms for all employees within specified regular 
classifications. Employees will maintain those assigned uniforms. Annual replacement 
of uniforms will be as follows: 
 
Annually: 5 shirts and 5 trousers, and 1 pair of work boots.  
Every-Other-Year (Bi-Annually): 1 jacket. 
 

Exhibit A

35 of 75



32 | P a g e  

Uniforms are the property of the Authority. All uniform shirts, coveralls, and jackets 
shall include the following attached permanently to the front of the garment: 
  

1. A separate Authority identification patch. 
 
2. A separate employee name patch. 
 

Employee uniform stock shall not exceed fifteen (15) uniforms. Employees will return 
all old or unused uniform shirts or jackets to the Authority within thirty (30) days 
after the employee has received replacement uniform shirts, coveralls, or jackets.  
 
Employees will turn in all old or unused uniform shirts and jackets upon the 
termination of their employment. 
 
Designation of a specific employee uniform requirement shall be at the discretion of 
the Department Director as to type and style of uniform components which are 
appropriate to the job classification and regular tasks performed. Replacement 
intervals of uniform components for non-maintenance positions shall be annual 
unless otherwise declared. 
 
Periodic provision of promotional clothing or equipment, including safety equipment, 
does not of itself constitute a uniform designation or allowance or infer an obligation 
of the Authority to continue the allocation or to replace such clothing or equipment 
previously issued except as required for safety or other job compliance. 
 
After a good faith joint inquiry, the Authority and Union agree that the approximate 
value to employees of the Authority providing and maintaining uniforms, excluding 
safety boots and other protective and safety gear, is $5 bi-weekly.  To the extent 
required by CalPERS, the Authority will report the value of uniforms to CalPERS as 
special compensation for CalPERS classic members. 

ARTICLE 15 - ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION 
 
Section 1: Longevity Pay 
 
The Authority agrees to pay, in addition to the basic salary schedule, a longevity 
allowance as follows: 
 

1. Upon completion of ten (10) years of continuous service as an employee of 
the Authority, a longevity allowance of $100.00 per month added to base pay. 
 
2.Upon completion of fifteen (15) years of continuous service as an employee 
of the Authority, a longevity allowance of an additional $50.00 per month 
added to base pay (a total of $150.00 per month inclusive of the amount 
received under (a), above). 

 
3. Upon completion of twenty (20) years of continuous service as an employee 
of the Authority, a longevity allowance of an additional $50.00 per month 

Exhibit A

36 of 75



33 | P a g e  

added to base pay (a total of $200.00 per month inclusive of the amount 
received under (a) and (b), above). 

 
Section 2: On-Call Pay 
 
Within the Authority's discretion, and regardless of whether specifically set forth in 
job descriptions, employees may be assigned on-call duty for possible work and will 
be required to be available outside their regularly-scheduled shifts. The employee 
shall be paid One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) per pay period only when the employee 
is actually on "on-call" duty during such pay period. Time spent on "on-call" duty 
shall not be counted as hours worked for overtime purposes. Selection of employees 
eligible for on-call duty is at the discretion of the Authority, and the Authority will 
maintain a current list of all employees approved for on-call duty. The Authority will 
provide employees with reasonable advance notice of on-call duty. On-call duty 
requires the employee so assigned to:  
 

1. Be ready to respond to calls;  
 
2. Be reachable by telephone or pager;  
 
3. Be able to be at the work shop within 60 minutes; and  
 
4. Refrain from activities which might impair the employee’s ability to perform 
assigned duties.  
 

Employees assigned to on-call duty have the responsibility of obtaining qualified relief 
from the approved on-call list of employees in the event they cannot be called back 
to work. The relief must have the pre-approval of an appropriate supervisor. 
Employees will be assigned to on-call duty first on a volunteer basis and thereafter 
assigned by reverse seniority. On-call duty will be rotated among qualified employees 
on the approved on-call list of employees unless otherwise agreed to by the employee 
and management. 
 
This section shall not apply to exempt employees. 
 
 Section 3: Call-Back Pay 
 
When an employee is on-call and is called back by management to work outside the 
employee’s regularly-scheduled shift, the employee shall be paid a minimum of three 
(3) hours at one-and-one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate, and 
one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate thereafter for 
actual hours worked. Employees called back to duty shall begin receiving 
compensation at such time as the employee leaves home, and compensation shall be 
paid until such time as the employee returns home, but shall not include time spent 
not on duty for the Authority. 
 
Mileage paid to employees is defined in Section 4 below. Time spent on call shall not 
be counted as hours worked for overtime purposes. 

Exhibit A

37 of 75



34 | P a g e  

 
This section shall not apply to exempt employees.  
 
An on-call employee who is called back to work and is required to use the employee’s 
private vehicle shall receive a mileage allowance equal to the current IRS mileage 
allowance, for each mile traveled from the employee’s residence to the Authority and 
for the return trip. The exception to this Section shall be those employees furnished 
with vehicles by the Authority. This rate shall be adjusted annually according to the 
IRS mileage reimbursement amount. 
 
Section 4: Overtime Meal Allowance 
 
When two (2) or more hours of overtime are directed to be worked beyond the 
employee's regular workday, the dinner per-diem meal allowance according to the 
Authority’s travel policy shall be paid by the Authority.  The actual time taken for the 
meal, not to exceed one (1) hour, shall not be considered as time worked. 
 
Section 5: Employee Medical Allowance & Employer-Paid Insurance 
Premiums 
 
A. Medical Insurance 
 
During the term of the MOU, the Authority agrees to continue its contract with the 
California Public Employees' Retirement System (“CalPERS”) for the purpose of 
providing employees and their eligible dependents with access to medical insurance 
benefits. Participation and benefits under the Plan shall be administered in 
accordance with the provisions of the Public Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act 
(PEMHCA). 
  
The Authority’s maximum monthly contribution for each eligible active employee shall 
be an amount equal to the greater of either 20% of the premium for single employee 
coverage or the minimum contribution required under Government Code Section 
22892. 
 
B. Dental Plan 
 
The Authority will provide employees and their eligible dependents with access to 
dental insurance benefits through the Cafeteria Plan described below. These dental 
insurance benefits shall include optional orthodontia care (50% coverage up to 
$1,500 per year). The Authority shall pay 100% of the lowest cost employee-only 
base premium per month on behalf of each eligible employee towards the costs of 
dental insurance premiums. Employees who choose additional coverage, such as 
orthodontia or who choose to cover additional dependents under the dental plan shall 
pay any additional amount for the enhanced benefit or additional covered individuals. 
All employees shall participate in the dental plan. 
 

Exhibit A

38 of 75



35 | P a g e  

C. Vision Insurance 
 
The Authority will provide employees and their eligible dependents with access to 
vision insurance benefits through the Cafeteria Plan described below. The Authority 
shall pay 100% of the employee-only premium for the contracted vision plan per 
month on behalf of each eligible employee. If an employee elects to include 
dependents, the employee will pay any additional amount for dependent coverage 
under the plan. 
 
D. Life Insurance 
 
The Authority will provide employees and their eligible dependents with access to life 
insurance benefits through the Cafeteria Plan described below. The Authority shall 
contribute 100% of the base employee-only premium for accidental death & 
dismemberment coverage per month on behalf of each eligible employee towards the 
costs of life insurance premiums. Any amounts for additional insured dependents or 
for enhanced insurance coverage shall be paid by the employee. 
  
E. Retiree Medical Insurance 
 
The Authority will provide access to medical insurance coverage for those employees 
who retire from employment with the Authority and who constitute "annuitants" as 
defined by the Public Employees' Medical and Hospital Care Act (“PEMHCA”). The 
Authority’s maximum monthly contribution for each eligible annuitant shall be an 
amount equal to the greater of either 20% of the premium for single employee 
coverage or the minimum contribution required under Government Code Section 
22892. The provisions of the PEMHCA will govern medical insurance coverage for 
annuitants. 
 
Section 6: Flexible Spending 
 
A. Cafeteria Plan 
 
The Authority will establish a Section 125 Flexible Spending Account or Cafeteria Plan 
for employee participation. Such plan will qualify as a "cafeteria plan" within the 
meaning of Section 125 (d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended. 
 
B. Flexible Spending Allowance 
 
The Authority agrees to provide a Fringe Benefit Allowance to all full-time employees 
eligible to participate in the Authority-sponsored health and welfare benefits. Receipt 
of any Fringe Benefit Allowance under this Section shall be in addition to any Authority 
contribution that is provided under Section 6, subsection (A) above. The Fringe 
Benefit Allowance provided to an employee shall be determined based on an 
employee's participation level, as follows: 
 

Exhibit A

39 of 75



36 | P a g e  

TIER 1: Eligible employees who elect to enroll in employee-only medical benefits 
shall receive a flexible benefit allowance of $825.00 per month, less the amount of 
any Authority contribution towards medical insurance provided under Section 6, 
subsection (A) of this MOU. Any flexible benefit allowance provided under this 
provision can only be used towards the purchase of those benefits available through 
the Authority Cafeteria Plan. 
 
TIER 2: Eligible employees who elect to enroll in employee plus one level medical 
benefits shall receive a flexible benefit allowance of $1,025.00 per month, less the 
amount of any Authority contribution towards medical insurance provided under 
Section 6, subsection (A) of this MOU. Any flexible benefit allowance provided under 
this provision can only be used towards the purchase of those benefits available 
through the Authority Cafeteria Plan. 
 
TIER 3: Eligible employees enroll in employee plus two or employee plus family level 
medical benefits shall receive a flexible benefit allowance of $1,225.00 per month, 
less the amount of any Authority contribution towards medical insurance provided 
under Section 6, subsection (A) of this MOU. Any flexible benefit allowance provided 
under this provision can only be used towards the purchase of those benefits available 
through the Authority Cafeteria Plan. 
 
Section 7: Retirement Benefits 
 
A. CalPERS Retirement Plan 
 
The Authority shall contract with CalPERS for the purpose of providing all regular 
employees with pension plan benefits.  
 
“Classic Members” of CalPERS 
The benefit formula for “Classic Members” of CalPERS, as defined by CalPERS, shall 
be "2.7% @ 55." 
 
Participation in a CalPERS pension plan requires both an employer and an employee 
contribution. The Authority shall pay the full amount of any employer contribution 
required by CalPERS. 
 
Employees who are not defined as “new members” under the California Public 
Employees’ Pension Reform Act (“PEPRA”) will be required to pay 100% of the 8% 
required member contribution to CalPERS. In any case, employees shall pay no more 
than 100% of the member contribution required by PERS. 
 
“New Members” of CalPERS 
Employees who are defined as “new members” under PEPRA shall have the PEPRA 
2% at 62 defined benefit formula.   Employees defined as “new members” under 
PEPRA will be subject to all PEPRA provisions, including that they pay 50% of the 
total normal cost of the retirement benefit, as determined by CalPERS. 
 

Exhibit A

40 of 75



37 | P a g e  

B. Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
The Authority shall establish and implement a Deferred Compensation plan. 
Employees shall be eligible to participate in the Deferred Compensation plan in 
accordance with plan requirements. 
 
Section 8: Bilingual Pay 
 
Designation of bilingual required positions is the sole discretion of the Executive 
Director and is based on operational and staffing needs of the Authority. The 
compensable second languages shall be limited to only those required by the 
Authority’s Language Assistance Plan (LAP). In order to ensure adequate level of 
bilingual proficiency and to be eligible for bilingual pay, the Authority will require an 
evaluation of bilingual skills.  
 
Bilingual duties include but are not limited to oral interpretation and translation of 
programmatic information such as Federal, State, or local program regulations, 
policies, procedures, forms, and documents; as well as oral interpretation and 
translation of routine information such as general correspondence, telephone calls, 
client inquiries and similar duties as assigned. Upon request, employees receiving 
bilingual pay will be required to assist other non-bilingual employees and/or assist 
other departments with translation. Refusal to assist may result in loss of bilingual 
pay. Bilingual pay can be discontinued at any time at the discretion of the Executive 
Director as long as the employee no longer uses bilingual skills. 
 
For employees required to utilize oral bilingual skills, the employee shall be paid 
$23.07 per pay period. Should an employee voluntarily withdraw from the bilingual 
pay program, bilingual pay will be discontinued and/or prorated effective on the date 
of the withdrawal. If an employee’s bilingual skills no longer satisfy the bilingual 
requirements, the bilingual pay shall cease immediately. 

ARTICLE 16 - SICK LEAVE AND DISABILITY COMPENSATION 
 
Section 1: Sick Leave 
 
Each full-time regular employee shall earn sick leave at the rate of 3.70 hours per 
biweekly pay period (96 hours annually), for each period worked or the major portion 
thereof. Each part-time, regular employee shall earn sick leave on a prorated basis. 
The prorated sick leave value shall be calculated by multiplying the value of 3.70 
hours per biweekly payroll period by the percentage factor derived by dividing the 
usual number of hours worked by the part-time employee within a bi-weekly payroll 
period by 80 hours. 
Sick leave earned shall be added to the employee's sick leave accumulation account 
upon completion of the pay period. Information regarding the amount of an 
employee's accrued sick leave shall be available on the employee’s regular paycheck 
stubs. 
 

Exhibit A

41 of 75



38 | P a g e  

In order to receive compensation while absent on sick leave, the employee shall notify 
the Authority prior to, or within thirty (30) minutes after, the beginning of the work 
shift unless precluded by emergency (i.e. hospitalization). The employee will call a 
call-in number provided by the Authority to speak with, and not leave a message, a 
designated Authority individual. When absent in excess of three (3) workdays, the 
employee shall file, upon request, a doctor's statement or a personal affidavit with 
the department head stating the cause for the absence. 
 
Sick leave earned may be applied to an absence caused by illness or injury to an 
employee, and for medical, dental, and vision office visits when absent during regular 
work hours. One hour of sick leave may also be utilized in accordance with Article 22. 
 
Section 2: Illness In The Immediate Family 
 
When an illness or injury in an employee’s immediate family requires the employee 
to be absent from duty to care for such person(s), this absence shall be charged to 
the employee's sick leave, up to a maximum of 48 hours per year. An employee is 
allowed to use the employee’s sick leave for the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an 
existing health condition of, or preventative care for, the employee’s immediate 
family members. 
 
When absent for more than three (3) work days due to sickness in the family, or 
extended family care, the employee shall file, upon request, a doctor's statement or 
a personal affidavit with the department head stating the reason for the absence. 
 
"Immediate family member" is defined as child, parent, spouse, registered domestic 
partner, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, and parent of the employee’s spouse or 
registered domestic partner.  
 
“Child” means a child under the age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of age or older 
who is incapable of self-care because of a mental or physical disability. Staff person 
must submit medical professional verification or disability. An employee’s child is one 
for whom the employee has actual day-to-day responsibility for care, and includes a 
biological, adopted, foster or step-child. A child is “incapable of self-care” if the child 
requires active assistance or supervision to provide daily self-care in three or more 
of the activities of daily living or instrumental activities of daily living, such as caring 
for grooming and hygiene, bathing, dressing and eating, cooking, cleaning shopping, 
taking public transportation, paying bills, maintaining a residence, or using 
telephones and directories. 
 
“Parent” means the biological, foster, adopted, or step parent or legal guardian of an 
employee or an individual who stands or stood in loco parentis (in place of a parent) 
to an employee when the employee was a child. 
 
A person who stands “in loco parentis” is one whom assumes parental status and 
carries out the obligations of a parent to a child with whom the person has no legal 
or biological connection. 
 

Exhibit A

42 of 75



39 | P a g e  

“Spouse” means one or two persons to a marriage, regardless of the sex of the 
persons, and for purposes of CFRA leave, includes a registered domestic partner as 
defined below. 
 
“Domestic Partner” is another adult with whom the employee has chosen to share 
their life in an intimate and committed relationship of mutual caring and with whom 
the employee has filed a Declaration of Domestic Partnership with the Secretary of 
State, and who meets the criteria specified in California Family Code section 297. A 
legal union formed in another state that is substantially equivalent to the California 
domestic partnership is also sufficient. 
 
An employee may also use the employee’s sick leave for purposes described in Labor 
Code section 230(c) and 230.1(a) for the employee, or the employee’s immediate 
family member, who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 
 
In extraordinary situations in which an employee’s immediate family members 
require extended care beyond the 48 hour annual limitation, the employee can 
request special consideration for providing such extended care and comfort, utilizing 
up to 75% of the employee’s current accumulated sick leave per year. However, this 
extended care would qualify only for certain "restricted" family members, with a 
doctor's certification. "Restricted" family for extended medical care is defined as 
follows: 
 
Child (regardless of age or dependency status), parent, spouse, registered domestic 
partner, and parent of the employee’s spouse or registered domestic partner, or other 
relatives who have been residing in the employee's home and are dependent upon 
the employee. 
 
Section 3: Fraction of a Day 
 
Employees shall be charged sick leave in 30-minute increments, to the maximum of 
the employee’s then-scheduled shift.  
 
Section 4: Personal Necessity Leave 
 

An employee may take up to 24 hours of personal necessity leave.  Where provided 
for by law, such leave shall be deducted from the employee's available sick leave.  
Personal Necessity Leave taken for reasons other than those chargeable to sick leave 
shall be charged to an employee’s accrued vacation leave balance.  All Personal 
Necessity Leave shall be taken in increments of one half-hour (1/2) or more. 
 
Section 5: Accumulation 
 
An employee may accumulate sick leave indefinitely. Employees who are receiving 
State Disability Insurance benefits or workers’ compensation benefits will accrue sick 
leave only on the prorated amount of accrued leave that they use to supplement 
State Disability Insurance and workers’ compensation benefits.  In no event may an 
employee use accrued leaves and benefits to exceed 100% of their regular salary. 

Exhibit A

43 of 75



40 | P a g e  

Upon retirement, any unused sick leave shall apply toward retirement credits with 
PERS, if such application toward service credit is permitted by CalPERS. 
 
Section 6: Use of Sick Leave While on Vacation 
 
An employee who becomes ill while on vacation, and who desires to claim sick leave, 
must make such request as soon as possible after the hour on which the employee 
desires to begin sick leave usage. A doctor's certificate will be required by the 
Authority for any period of sick leave used while on vacation. 
 
Section 7: Disability Compensation And Benefits 
 
Any full-time regular employee who becomes disabled during employment with the 
Authority shall receive compensation in the following manner: 
 
Employees may supplement State Disability Insurance with sick leave to equal up to 
100% of their salary.  In no event shall the State Disability Insurance benefit and the 
use of accrued sick leave exceed 100% of the employee’s regular salary. 
 
Section 8: Catastrophic Leave Donations 
 
Catastrophic Leave provides that employees shall be entitled to donate accrued 
vacation or sick leave hours to another employee to augment a portion or portions 
of the employee's sick leave, on behalf of the employee; the employee's spouse, as 
defined in Article 15, Section 2;  or the employee's children, as defined in Article 15, 
Section 2; provided that the receiving employee faces a financial hardship due to a 
serious injury or a prolonged illness to themselves or an immediate family member, 
as defined in Article 15, Section 2, and has exhausted all accrued leaves. Both the 
donor and the recipient must be regular employees, having passed initial probation. 
Catastrophic Leave requests shall conform to the following criteria: 
 

1. Requests for Catastrophic Leave donations must be submitted in writing by 
the requesting employee after the requesting employee exhausted all of the 
employee’s accrued leave, and must turn in said request to the employee’s 
immediate supervisor. (The Executive Director or the Executive Director’s 
designated representative may require that the condition be confirmed by a 
doctor's report.) Upon approval by the Executive Director or Executive 
Director’s designee, the Executive Director or Executive Director’s designee 
shall post and circulate leave transfer forms to all employees. Participation is 
strictly optional and will remain confidential. 

 
2. The Executive Director or the Executive Director’s designee shall verify that 
donors have accrued sufficient hours to cover their intended donations. 
Donated leave may not exceed more than 25% of the donor's accrued sick and 
vacation leave totals at the time of the request. Donated time will be converted 
from the type of leave given to the employee's sick leave account, on an hour-
for-hour basis. 

 

Exhibit A

44 of 75



41 | P a g e  

3. The minimum donation shall be eight (8) hours, and thereafter in whole 
hour increments. 

 
4. Once posted, the donations are irrevocable, except in the event of the 
untimely death of a Catastrophic Leave recipient. In that event, any excess 
leave will be returned to the donating employees.  The Authority will attempt 
to return an equal proportion of donated and unused leave to each donor.  

 
The Authority will charge donors the donated hours actually used divided by 
the total amount of donated hours, multiplied by the amount of leave donated.   

 
  

  
𝐼𝑛𝑑𝑖𝑣𝑢𝑑𝑢𝑎𝑙 𝐻𝑜𝑢𝑟𝑠 𝐷𝑜𝑛𝑎𝑡𝑒𝑑 = Amount Actually Charged 

 
5. In the event that initial donations are exhausted and the receiving employee 
has not returned to work, a subsequent posting may be made by the Executive 
Director or the Executive Director’s designee. The total leave credits received 
by the employee normally shall not exceed (3) months for any single 
occurrence within a 12-month period. Human Resources will coordinate the 
total donations to each recipient to ensure that excessive numbers of hours 
are not donated. 
 

ARTICLE 17 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE 
 
Section 1: Criteria 
 
Upon approval of a written request to the Executive Director or the Executive 
Director’s designee, a leave of absence without pay may be granted to any regular 
employee for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months for the following reasons, 
subject to provisions of other Articles of this MOU or any Federal or State leave 
entitlement statutes: 
 

1. Illness or disability not covered by sick leave. 
 

2. Education or training which will materially benefit the employee. 
 

3. Other personal reasons which do not cause inconvenience to the Authority. 
 
4. Other employee leave entitlements authorized by State or Federal laws. The 
above maximum leave period may be in addition to any other medical or paid 
leaves for which the employee qualifies under State or Federal laws or 
regulations. 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A

45 of 75



42 | P a g e  

Section 2: Requests 
 
Requests for a leave of absence shall be submitted through the Executive Director, 
and shall state specifically the reasons for the request, the date when it is desired to 
begin the leave, and the probable date of return.  
 
Except in cases of emergency, requests for leave of absence must be submitted at 
least 30 days prior to the first day that leave will commence, or as much advance 
notice as is practical when the need for the leave becomes known to the employee. 
The request for leave must state the employee's election as to use of annual or sick 
leave accruals for a portion or all of the anticipated leave time as authorized within 
other Articles and Sections of this MOU, or other Authority policies by reference. 
 
Section 3: Accumulated Sick And Annual Leave 
  
Where permitted by law, all accumulated annual leave shall be used prior to being 
granted a leave of absence.  
 
Employees may not accrue annual or sick leave while on an unpaid leave of absence. 
Employees on disability leave may accrue annual or sick leave as explained in Article 
15, Section 5. Employees returning to work following a leave of absence shall retain 
their remaining accumulated sick leave. 
 
Section 4: Health And Dental Payments 
 
All premiums required under the Authority's health and welfare program shall be paid 
by the employee while on a leave of absence, unless continuance is provided by law. 
 
Section 5: Replacement And Transfers 
 
If the leave of absence has been granted for a period of time which would necessitate 
a replacement, the employee on leave shall not be returned to the position they 
vacated unless that position is open at the time they report for work. The employee 
shall, however, be granted preferential hiring rights for the first position of similar 
job classification which is open at a later date. 
 
In the event a probationary or regular employee is transferred or promoted on a 
temporary basis for the duration of a leave of absence of another employee, such 
appointment shall have no effect on the status of the temporary employee so 
promoted or transferred and the temporarily promoted or transferred employee shall 
be entitled to all rights and benefits that would be provided the employee as though 
the employee had not been temporarily promoted or transferred. 
 
Section 6: Pregnancy Disability Leave 
 
Pregnancy disability leave shall be granted in accordance with the Authority's policy 
regarding the requirements and procedures for such leave. The extent of qualified 

Exhibit A

46 of 75



43 | P a g e  

pregnancy leave shall also be in accordance with regulations adopted by the California 
Fair Employment and Housing Commission, and where applicable, the Family Medical 
Leave Act and the California Family Rights Act. 
 
Section 7: Family Medical Leave Act 
 
The parties to this MOU acknowledge the applicability of the Family Medical Leave 
Act, and intend to apply and implement this MOU so as to fully comply with the Act.  
 
The Authority shall provide up to twelve (12) weeks of family and medical leave in a 
rolling backward twelve (12) month period for qualifying employees, or longer to the 
extent required by law, including the provisions for pregnancy disability under state 
law. 
 

ARTICLE 18 – OCCUPATIONAL INJURY COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS 
 
Any employee who is absent as a result of an industrial injury or illness deemed 
compensable by the Executive Director or the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board, 
shall receive compensation in the following manner: 
 
Employees may supplement workers’ compensation temporary disability benefits 
with sick leave to equal up to 100% of their salary.  In no event shall the workers’ 
compensation temporary disability benefit and the use of accrued sick leave exceed 
100% of the employee’s regular salary.  The Authority and employee may agree to 
allow workers’ compensation temporary disability benefits to be supplemented by 
annual leave after sick leave has been exhausted. 
 
Injuries or illness which are job-related and involve less than one (1) day’s absence 
for diagnosis or treatment, shall not be charged to employees’ sick or vacation time. 
 

ARTICLE 19 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 
 
Paid bereavement leave may be taken in an amount not to exceed three (3) days per 
event causing the death of an immediate family member, as defined in Article 15, 
Section 2.  
 
The Executive Director may, in the Executive Director’s sole discretion, grant 
Bereavement Leave in any amount up to three (3) days, for relationships beyond the 
familial listing contained in Article 15, Section 2. Additionally, the Executive Director 
may, in the Executive Director’s sole discretion, approve, in whole or in part, an 
employee request for additional time away from work following a period of 
bereavement leave. If approved, such extended leave shall be charged first to the 
employee’s vacation leave balance. If no vacation leave balance remains, such leave 
shall be charged to the employee’s accrued sick leave balance. If no leave balances 
remain, the employee may, at the Executive Director’s discretion, be granted leave 
without pay. 

Exhibit A

47 of 75



44 | P a g e  

 
Employees requesting Bereavement Leave must provide appropriate documentation 
verifying the need for leave, and the qualifying familial relationship. 
 

ARTICLE 20 - COURT LEAVE 
 
Any employee in court as a witness (other than as a plaintiff or defendant in a matter 
of personal litigation, or as a defendant in a civil or criminal action), or on jury duty, 
is entitled to court leave and such absence shall not be construed as annual leave or 
leave without pay. 
Any fees collected by the employee for such duty shall be collected, less mileage 
allowance, by the Authority from the employee, except that such fees collected shall 
not be in excess of the salary earned by the employee in the same period. However, 
the employee may elect to take annual vacation leave or leave without pay and retain 
any such fees. 
 
Before court leave is granted, the employee must submit a copy of the official 
summons to the employee’s immediate supervisor prior to the beginning date of such 
duty or service. 
 
The employee must submit the employee’s verification of attendance and dismissal 
to the Authority.  
 

ARTICLE 21 - MILITARY SERVICE LEAVE 
 
Military leave will be granted in accordance with 
state and federal law.  An employee 
requesting leave for this purpose shall promptly provide the department head with 
a copy of the military orders as soon as practicable. 
 

ARTICLE 22 - REST AND MEAL PERIODS 
 
When practicable, employees who work in excess of four (4) consecutive hours shall 
be provided rest periods not to exceed fifteen (15) minutes during the middle of each 
four-hour segment of work time during their shift.  
 
When practicable, employees who work five (5) hours or more in any one workday 
will be allowed a meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes, nor more than one 
(1) hour, scheduled approximately at the midpoint or middle of the work shift. 
Employees shall be entirely relieved from duty during the meal period. If required to 
work during the meal period, the time actually worked is compensable and counts as 
hours actually worked. 
 
Meal and rest periods may not be taken in the first or last hour of a work shift. Meal 
and rest periods may not be combined. 

Exhibit A

48 of 75



45 | P a g e  

ARTICLE 23 - HOURS OF WORK AND HOLIDAYS 
 
Section 1: Work Hours 
 
The regular workweek for all represented employees of the Authority, hereafter 
designated as a 9/80 compressed workweek, shall occur within a 168-hour period 
beginning on a designated Friday at 12:01 p.m., and continuing through to 12:00 
p.m. on the next subsequent calendar Friday. Employees shall be paid on a bi-weekly 
basis. Within the first week of the bi-weekly payroll period, employees shall be 
assigned four (4), nine (9) hour workdays, Monday through Thursday, and one (1), 
eight (8) hour workday on the first Friday of the payroll period, and four (4), nine (9) 
hour workdays, Monday through Thursday of the second week of the payroll period. 
The second Friday of the payroll period shall be a bye day for employees on the 
previously described workweek schedule. Any time worked in excess of nine (9) hours 
per day on a Monday through Thursday, in excess of eight (8) hours on a scheduled, 
non-bye Friday, or 40 hours within the designated individual workweek, shall be 
deemed overtime and shall be paid at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular 
rate time. Except that an employee may take time off during the workweek. 
 
If compensatory time is taken during the workweek, all holidays set forth in this 
agreement which fall upon a regularly assigned workday shall be construed as nine 
(9) hours worked. 
 
Employees shall have the option of flexible scheduling of their regular workday as to 
starting time, and a one (1) hour or one-half (1/2) hour lunch period. Flexible 
scheduling must be approved in advance by the employee's immediate supervisor, 
and must conform to the days and hours set forth as a regular workweek. 
 
The Authority retains the option to revert its employees’ work schedule to a regular 
Monday through Friday, eight (8) hours per day workweek. The Authority shall give 
all staff sixty (60) days’ notice prior to exercising this option. 
 
Section 2: Holidays Worked 
 
In conjunction with the 9/80 compressed workweek, any holiday which falls on a 
regular nine (9) hour day shall be recorded on the employee timecard as eight (8) 
hours of paid holiday leave, and one (1) hour to be deducted from either the 
employee's regular vacation or sick leave accrual, at the discretion of the employee. 
The one hour of vacation or sick leave time used in conjunction with an eight (8) hour 
holiday to represent a nine (9) hour absence, will be counted as an hour of work for 
overtime calculations. All scheduled paid holidays for all regular employees shall be 
counted as hours worked for overtime calculations. 
 
Any holidays worked by employees will be paid for as a regular 9/80 workday plus 
time and one-half (1-1/2) for actual time worked, not to exceed the customary 9/80 
hours regularly scheduled for that workday. Any time worked on such a holiday in 
excess of the customary 9/80 hours regularly scheduled for that workday, shall be 
paid as double time or two times (2x) the employee’s regular hourly rate. 

Exhibit A

49 of 75



46 | P a g e  

Section 3: Holidays Observed 
 
The following shall be observed as paid holidays for all full-time, regular employees: 
 

New Year's Day 
Martin Luther King's Birthday  
Abraham Lincoln's Birthday  
Presidents' Day 
Cesar Chavez's Birthday  
Memorial Day  
Independence Day 
Labor Day  
Columbus Day  
Veteran's Day  
Thanksgiving Day 
Friday following Thanksgiving Day 
Two Floating Holidays of employee's choice 
Christmas Day 
Christmas Eve Holiday (observed the last working day prior to the observed 

Christmas Day Holiday) 
State or Government Holiday* 

 
When a holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as the 
Holiday. When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday will be observed as 
the Holiday. 
 
The Executive Director or the Executive Director’s designated representative, has the 
option to move holiday observances to better fit the local practices. 
 
* Every day appointed by the President of the United States or the Governor of the 
State of California as a holiday, or any day or part of a day declared by the Board of 
Commissioners, by resolution, to be a holiday. 
 
Section 4: Holiday During Vacation 
 
If a legal holiday, as designated above, occurs during a vacation period of an 
employee, the day shall not be charged to annual leave, but shall be charged as a 
holiday.  
 
Section 5: Use of Floating Holidays 
 
Floating holidays shall be taken as follows: The first floating holiday shall be taken 
between January 1 and June 30 of the calendar year. The second floating holiday 
shall be taken between July 1 and December 31 of the calendar year. 
 
Employee Floating Holiday requests shall be processed in the same manner as Article 
13, Section 2 – Annual Leave. 
 

Exhibit A

50 of 75



47 | P a g e  

New employees hired after July 1st in any year are only entitled one (1) Floating 
Holiday for that calendar year. 
 
Floating holidays are forfeited if not taken during the prescribed time period and 
unused floating holidays may not be carried over from the first half of the year into 
the second or into a subsequent calendar year (as applicable). Further, unused 
floating holidays may not be converted into cash for purposes of payout either during 
the year or if they remain unused at the end of the year. Floating holidays may not 
be utilized by a probationary employee prior to completion of ninety (90) days after 
initial employment, but, as an exception, may be carried into the next half-year if 
unable to be used as a consequence of the employee’s probationary period.  
 
Section 6: Part-Time Employees 
 
For accounting purposes, part-time regular employees shall have qualifying holiday 
hours calculated on a prorated basis. However, no annual leave will be required to 
compensate for the difference between the calculated pro-rated holiday entitlement 
and a traditional eight (8) hour holiday. Prorated holiday hours shall be determined 
by dividing the usual number of hours worked per biweekly payroll period by "80"; 
converting the dividend to a percentage; multiplying the percentage by eight (8) 
hours, and rounding the product to the closest higher whole number. 
 

ARTICLE 24 - Annual Leave And Wages In Case of Death 
 

In case of a separation of employment due to the death of an employee, their 
estate shall be paid all wages or salaries earned, plus any annual leave accrued; up 
to, and inclusive of, the date of separation from employment, however, the 
Authority will comply with all applicable laws.  
 

ARTICLE 25 - BULLETIN BOARDS 
 
The Authority shall provide the Union with space on bulletin boards in areas where 
the Union has employees it represents for the purposes of posting Union notices. 
Such notices may be posted by the steward. Although not limited to the following 
notices, they may include: 
 

1. Recreational and social events of the Union; 
 
2. Union meetings; 
 
3. Union elections or appointments; and 
 
4. Results of Union elections. 

 

Exhibit A

51 of 75



48 | P a g e  

ARTICLE  26- WORK RULES 
 
Work rules are defined by Management as employee regulations upon which 
disciplinary action may be taken. 
 
All existing and future work rules shall be subject to mutual agreement before 
becoming effective. 
 

ARTICLE  27- POLITICAL ACTIVITY BY EMPLOYEES 
 
Political Activities of employees of the Authority are governed by the provisions of 
the California Government Code, and of the Federal Hatch Act. In addition, any 
Authority employees who are paid, in whole or in any part, with federal grant moneys 
or loans or whose principal employment is in connection with any activity or program 
financed, in whole or in part, by grants or loans made by the United States or any 
U.S. Federal Agency are also subject to the political restrictions of the Federal Hatch 
Act. 
 
In general, subject to restrictions described below, Authority officers and employees 
have a right to voluntarily participate or refrain from participating in political activities 
as individuals and on their own time. 
 
Employees may not engage in political activity during working time or on any 
Authority property (including while driving or riding in any Authority vehicles). 
Additionally, employees may not engage in political activity when wearing or carrying 
any part of an Authority uniform or insignia that is visible and not completely 
obscured from view.  
 
No employee is permitted to use Authority funds, equipment, or resources of any 
kind for political purposes. 
 
Employees who are covered by the Hatch Act are also prohibited from being a 
candidate for elective public office in a partisan election, or using his or her official 
authority or influence for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the result of an 
election or nomination for any political office. 
 
The above restrictions are not exhaustive. Employees have an individual 
responsibility to be aware of and refrain from any other prohibited activities under 
State and Federal Law as such laws may change from time-to-time. 
 
Any violation of this section shall result in the Authority taking appropriate disciplinary 
action, up to and including termination of employment. 
 
 
 

Exhibit A

52 of 75



49 | P a g e  

ARTICLE 28 - IMPASSE PROCEDURES 
 
If, after a reasonable duration and number of meetings during which good faith 
negotiations have failed to produce agreement on an issue that is a mandatory 
subject of bargaining under the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (MMBA), any party may 
declare that attempts to reach agreement have reached impasse. Such declaration 
shall be in writing. 
 
If any party issues such a declaration of impasse, the parties shall, within ten (10) 
calendar days, consult with each other to set a date to hold an “impasse meeting”. 
Such impasse meeting shall be held as soon thereafter as can be mutually agreed.  
 
The Parties may mutually agree to mediation at any time after the declaration of 
impasse, and before or after the impasse meeting is held. If mediation is agreed to, 
the Parties may waive the holding of an impasse meeting. 
 
If a mediation or impasse meeting is held; the parties agree to present a summary 
of their respective positions at point of impasse to the other at the beginning of 
mediation or the impasse meeting. 
 
In the event mediation is agreed to, the Authority shall, within ten (10) calendar 
days, draft and send the joint request for assignment of a mediator to the State 
Mediation and Conciliation Service, a Division of the Public Employment Relations 
Board, State of California. 
 
Mediation shall be confidential, and neither party may take a public position, or make 
any public statements about the issues prior to the conclusion of mediation. 
Additionally, parties may not disclose the views, statements, or opinions of the 
mediator or make any statements or disclosures about the mediation process before, 
during, or after the completion of mediation. Either party may terminate the 
mediation process at any time. 
 
Nothing in this section shall affect the rights of the Parties under the MMBA or PERB 
regulations. To the extent that any provision of this section is in conflict with the 
MMBA or PERB Regulations, the MMBA and PERB Regulations shall supersede. All 
remaining portions of this section shall be read as excluding any invalid portions. To 
the extent the remaining portions can be conformed to the requirements of the law, 
they shall remain in full force and effect. The use of impasse procedures or mediation 
contained in this section tolls the limitations periods provided for in PERB Regulations, 
the MMBA, or State Law. Any agreement to toll timeframes shall operate to extend 
the limitations period from the date signed by all parties, but shall not operate to 
restore portions of the limitations period consumed prior to the date of agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 29 - SAVINGS CLAUSE 
 
In the event any article, section, or portion of this MOU is held invalid and 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall apply only 

Exhibit A

53 of 75



50 | P a g e  

to the specific article, section, or portion thereof specifically specified in the court's 
decision. Upon issuance of such a decision, the Authority and the Union agree to 
immediately negotiate a substitution for the invalidated article, section, or portion 
thereof. 
 

ARTICLE 30 - TERM OF CONTRACT/TERMINATION 
 
This MOU shall be effective upon ratification by all parties, and shall remain in full 
force and effect until 11:59 p.m. on January 31, 2023. Either party shall notify the 
other in writing at least sixty (60) days prior to the anniversary date that it desires 
to modify this MOU. In the event that such notice is given, negotiation shall begin 
not less than thirty (30) days prior to the anniversary date. This MOU shall remain in 
full force and be effective during the period of negotiations and until notice of 
termination of this MOU is provided to the other party. 
 

ARTICLE 31 - LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
The Authority and the Union agree to form a Labor Management Committee 
(“Committee”) to meet at times mutually agreed upon to discuss labor-management 
issues and ideas.  
 
The Committee shall be made up of two members assigned by the Authority, one of 
which must be a management employee of the Authority; and two members, at least 
one of which must be a full-time employee of the Authority and member of the Union. 
Each side may appoint their second member either from employees of the Authority 
or paid professional representatives of the Authority or Union. 
 
The intent in forming this Committee is to provide a forum for the informal discussion 
of issues and the  
free exchange of ideas and suggestions. The charge of the Committee does not 
include negotiation of matters covered in the MOU or other mandatory subjects of 
bargaining, including wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment. 
The Committee may meet quarterly. 
  

Exhibit A

54 of 75



51 | P a g e  

EXECUTION: 
 
For AFSCME Local 2703: For The Housing Authority of the 

County of Merced: 
 
Date:       Date: 
        
        
_________________________   _________________________ 
Mary McWatters, Business Agent  Jack Jackson, Board Chair 
 
 
Date:       Date: 
        
        
__________________________  _________________________ 
Britt Lemas, Negotiations Team   Rosa Vazquez, Executive Director 
 
 
Date:       Date: 
        
        
_________________________   _________________________ 
Samantha Vargas, Negotiations Team  Cliff Hatanaka, Interim Finance Officer 
 
 
Date:       Date: 
        
        
_________________________   _________________________ 
Steven Perez, Negotiations Team  Shelline K. Bennett, Chief Negotiator 
 
 
Date:        
        
        
_______________________________    
Tony Moua, Negotiations Team    

Exhibit A

55 of 75



STAFF REPORT 
 
TO:  Board of Commissioners, 
  Housing Authority of the County of Merced 
 
FROM: Rosa Vazquez, Executive Director 
 
DATE: June 18, 2020 
  
SUBJECT: Recommendation to adopt Resolution No. 2020-05, approving the 

Employee Job Classification Salary Schedules for the periods 
between June 19, 2020 and February 1, 2022 for Represented 
Employees of the Housing Authority of the County of Merced. 

 
 

For your consideration, is Resolution No 2020-05, approving the Employee Job 
Classification Salary Schedules for the periods between June 19, 2020 and February 1, 
2022, for Represented Employees of the Housing Authority of the County of Merced 
(Authority).  Salaries for the represented employees continue at their then-current level 
after January 31, 2023 unless altered by a new successor Memorandum of 
Understanding taking effect after that date. 
 
Both parties have been in negotiations since November 14, 2019 regarding the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that has been in effect and expired January 31, 
2020. The two parties have met on nine separate occasions. On May 28, 2020, the 
Authority presented AFSCME with its last, best and final offer and a tentative agreement 
was reached regarding wages, benefits and other working conditions for all employees 
covered by the long-standing collective bargaining agreement between the Authority 
and AFSCME. 
 
The proposed Salary Schedules as set out in the MOU are as follows: 
 

 2020 – 2% Increase to base pay effective the first full pay period 
following ratification by the membership and approval of the MOU by 
the Board of Commissioners. 

 2021 – 2% Increase to base pay effective February 1, 2021. 
 2022 – 2% Increase to base pay effective February 1, 2022. 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
It is recommended that the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the 
County of Merced adopt Resolution No. 2020-05, approving the Employee Job 
Classification Salary Schedules for the periods between June 19, 2020 and February 1, 
2022 for Represented Employees of the Housing Authority of the County of Merced. 
The Salary Schedules are attached as Exhibit B. 

 

56 of 75



RESOLUTION 2020-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED, APPROVING 

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY SALARY SCHEDULES FOR 
REPRESENTED HACM EMPLOYEES FOR THE PERIOD 2020-2022 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement between the Housing Authority of the County of Merced 
(Authority) and Local 2703, American Federation of State, County and Municipal 
Employees, AFL-CIO, (AFSCME) requires that negotiation for changes to the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) begin no less than thirty (30) days prior to the 
anniversary date; and, 
 

WHEREAS, negotiation representatives from the Authority and AFSCME met and 
conferred on nine separate occasions; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 28, 2020, the Authority and AFSCME negotiators Met and Conferred, 
and the Authority presented AFSCME with its last, best and final offer; and a tentative 
agreement was reached; and, 
 

WHEREAS, it was agreed that the Salary Schedules be updated as follows; 2% increase 
to base pay effective the first full pay following ratification by the membership and 
approval of the MOU by the Board of Commissioners; and 2% increase to base pay 
effective February 1, 2021; and 2% increase to base pay effective February 1, 2022; and; 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the MOU, the Salary Schedules for represented employees shall 
change, effective June 19, 2020, then subsequently change effective February 1, 2020, 
then change again effective February 1, 2022 as shown in the Salary Tables attached 
hereto;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Housing 
Authority of the County of Merced hereby approves and adopts said Employee 
Classifications Salary Schedule as presented.  
 

Motion:     Second: 
 

Ayes: 
 

Nays: 
 

Absent: 
 

Abstain: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Chairperson, Board of Commissioners 
Housing Authority of the County of Merced  Dated: June 18, 2020 

57 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 6/19/2020 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE
ACCOUNTANT YEAR 49,654.02 52,136.76 54,743.52 57,480.80 60,354.84 61,554.74 62,154.82 62,754.90

MONTH 4,137.84 4,344.73 4,561.96 4,790.07 5,029.57 5,129.56 5,179.57 5,229.58
SE-MO. 2,068.92 2,172.37 2,280.98 2,395.03 2,514.79 2,564.78 2,589.78 2,614.79
BI-WK 1,909.77 2,005.26 2,105.52 2,210.80 2,321.34 2,367.49 2,390.57 2,413.65

ACCTING. SUPER. YEAR 54,748.72 57,486.26 60,360.56 63,378.64 66,547.52 67,747.42 68,347.50 68,947.58
MONTH 4,562.39 4,790.52 5,030.05 5,281.55 5,545.63 5,645.62 5,695.63 5,745.63
SE-MO. 2,281.20 2,395.26 2,515.02 2,640.78 2,772.81 2,822.81 2,847.81 2,872.82
BI-WK 2,105.72 2,211.01 2,321.56 2,437.64 2,559.52 2,605.67 2,628.75 2,651.83

ACCTING TECH I YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

ACCTING TECH II YEAR 49,654.02 52,136.76 54,743.52 57,480.80 60,354.84 61,554.74 62,154.82 62,754.90
MONTH 4,137.84 4,344.73 4,561.96 4,790.07 5,029.57 5,129.56 5,179.57 5,229.58
SE-MO. 2,068.92 2,172.37 2,280.98 2,395.03 2,514.79 2,564.78 2,589.78 2,614.79
BI-WK 1,909.77 2,005.26 2,105.52 2,210.80 2,321.34 2,367.49 2,390.57 2,413.65

ACCTNG TECH-A/R YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

ACCTNG TECH-A/P YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 061920 6/17/2020 Page 1 of 66

Exhibit B

58 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 6/19/2020 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

ADMIN. CLERK I YEAR 26,867.10 28,210.52 29,621.02 31,101.98 32,657.04 33,856.94 34,457.02 35,057.10
MONTH 2,238.93 2,350.88 2,468.42 2,591.83 2,721.42 2,821.41 2,871.42 2,921.43
SE-MO. 1,119.46 1,175.44 1,234.21 1,295.92 1,360.71 1,410.71 1,435.71 1,460.71
BI-WK 1,033.35 1,085.02 1,139.27 1,196.23 1,256.04 1,302.19 1,325.27 1,348.35

ADMIN. CLERK II YEAR 31,081.44 32,635.46 34,267.22 35,980.62 37,779.56 38,979.46 39,579.54 40,179.62
MONTH 2,590.12 2,719.62 2,855.60 2,998.39 3,148.30 3,248.29 3,298.30 3,348.30
SE-MO. 1,295.06 1,359.81 1,427.80 1,499.19 1,574.15 1,624.14 1,649.15 1,674.15
BI-WK 1,195.44 1,255.21 1,317.97 1,383.87 1,453.06 1,499.21 1,522.29 1,545.37

CONST.COMP.COORD. YEAR 45,035.38 47,287.24 49,651.68 52,134.16 54,740.92 55,940.82 56,540.90 57,140.98
MONTH 3,752.95 3,940.60 4,137.64 4,344.51 4,561.74 4,661.74 4,711.74 4,761.75
SE-MO. 1,876.47 1,970.30 2,068.82 2,172.26 2,280.87 2,330.87 2,355.87 2,380.87
BI-WK 1,732.13 1,818.74 1,909.68 2,005.16 2,105.42 2,151.57 2,174.65 2,197.73

CUST. SERV. REP. YEAR 37,332.10 39,198.64 41,158.52 43,216.42 45,377.28 46,577.18 47,177.26 47,777.34
MONTH 3,111.01 3,266.55 3,429.88 3,601.37 3,781.44 3,881.43 3,931.44 3,981.45
SE-MO. 1,555.50 1,633.28 1,714.94 1,800.68 1,890.72 1,940.72 1,965.72 1,990.72
BI-WK 1,435.85 1,507.64 1,583.02 1,662.17 1,745.28 1,791.43 1,814.51 1,837.59

DEVELOPMENT TECH. YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

ELIG. LEAD WORKER YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 061920 6/17/2020 Page 2 of 66

Exhibit B

59 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 6/19/2020 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

ELIG. SPEC. I YEAR 32,199.70 33,809.62 35,500.14 37,275.16 39,138.84 40,338.74 40,938.82 41,538.90
MONTH 2,683.31 2,817.47 2,958.35 3,106.26 3,261.57 3,361.56 3,411.57 3,461.58
SE-MO. 1,341.65 1,408.73 1,479.17 1,553.13 1,630.79 1,680.78 1,705.78 1,730.79
BI-WK 1,238.45 1,300.37 1,365.39 1,433.66 1,505.34 1,551.49 1,574.57 1,597.65

ELIG. SPEC. II YEAR 37,336.26 39,203.06 41,163.20 43,221.36 45,382.48 46,582.38 47,182.46 47,782.54
MONTH 3,111.36 3,266.92 3,430.27 3,601.78 3,781.87 3,881.87 3,931.87 3,981.88
SE-MO. 1,555.68 1,633.46 1,715.13 1,800.89 1,890.94 1,940.93 1,965.94 1,990.94
BI-WK 1,436.01 1,507.81 1,583.20 1,662.36 1,745.48 1,791.63 1,814.71 1,837.79

FSS TECHNICIAN YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

HCV SUPERVISOR YEAR 44,908.50 47,153.86 49,511.54 51,987.00 54,586.48 55,786.38 56,386.46 56,986.54
MONTH 3,742.38 3,929.49 4,125.96 4,332.25 4,548.87 4,648.87 4,698.87 4,748.88
SE-MO. 1,871.19 1,964.74 2,062.98 2,166.13 2,274.44 2,324.43 2,349.44 2,374.44
BI-WK 1,727.25 1,813.61 1,904.29 1,999.50 2,099.48 2,145.63 2,168.71 2,191.79

HSNG.COMPLEX MGR. YEAR 48,309.56 50,724.96 53,261.26 55,924.44 58,720.74 59,920.64 60,520.72 61,120.80
MONTH 4,025.80 4,227.08 4,438.44 4,660.37 4,893.40 4,993.39 5,043.39 5,093.40
SE-MO. 2,012.90 2,113.54 2,219.22 2,330.19 2,446.70 2,496.69 2,521.70 2,546.70
BI-WK 1,858.06 1,950.96 2,048.51 2,150.94 2,258.49 2,304.64 2,327.72 2,350.80

HSING INSPEC.I YEAR 32,199.70 33,809.62 35,500.14 37,275.16 39,138.84 40,338.74 40,938.82 41,538.90
MONTH 2,683.31 2,817.47 2,958.35 3,106.26 3,261.57 3,361.56 3,411.57 3,461.58
SE-MO. 1,341.65 1,408.73 1,479.17 1,553.13 1,630.79 1,680.78 1,705.78 1,730.79
BI-WK 1,238.45 1,300.37 1,365.39 1,433.66 1,505.34 1,551.49 1,574.57 1,597.65

HSING INSPEC.II YEAR 37,336.26 39,203.06 41,163.20 43,221.36 45,382.48 46,582.38 47,182.46 47,782.54
MONTH 3,111.36 3,266.92 3,430.27 3,601.78 3,781.87 3,881.87 3,931.87 3,981.88
SE-MO. 1,555.68 1,633.46 1,715.13 1,800.89 1,890.94 1,940.93 1,965.94 1,990.94
BI-WK 1,436.01 1,507.81 1,583.20 1,662.36 1,745.48 1,791.63 1,814.71 1,837.79

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 061920 6/17/2020 Page 3 of 66

Exhibit B

60 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 6/19/2020 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

HSNG.PROG.SPEC.I YEAR 32,199.70 33,809.62 35,500.14 37,275.16 39,138.84 40,338.74 40,938.82 41,538.90
MONTH 2,683.31 2,817.47 2,958.35 3,106.26 3,261.57 3,361.56 3,411.57 3,461.58
SE-MO. 1,341.65 1,408.73 1,479.17 1,553.13 1,630.79 1,680.78 1,705.78 1,730.79
BI-WK 1,238.45 1,300.37 1,365.39 1,433.66 1,505.34 1,551.49 1,574.57 1,597.65

HSNG.PROG.SPEC.II YEAR 37,332.10 39,198.64 41,158.52 43,216.42 45,377.28 46,577.18 47,177.26 47,777.34
MONTH 3,111.01 3,266.55 3,429.88 3,601.37 3,781.44 3,881.43 3,931.44 3,981.45
SE-MO. 1,555.50 1,633.28 1,714.94 1,800.68 1,890.72 1,940.72 1,965.72 1,990.72
BI-WK 1,435.85 1,507.64 1,583.02 1,662.17 1,745.28 1,791.43 1,814.51 1,837.59

LEAD FOREMAN YEAR 54,467.92 57,191.42 60,050.90 63,053.38 66,206.14 67,406.04 68,006.12 68,606.20
MONTH 4,538.99 4,765.95 5,004.24 5,254.45 5,517.18 5,617.17 5,667.18 5,717.18
SE-MO 2,269.50 2,382.98 2,502.12 2,627.22 2,758.59 2,808.59 2,833.59 2,858.59
BI-WK 2,094.92 2,199.67 2,309.65 2,425.13 2,546.39 2,592.54 2,615.62 2,638.70

MAINT. FOREMAN YEAR 51,874.16 54,467.92 57,191.42 60,050.90 63,053.38 64,253.28 64,853.36 65,453.44
MONTH 4,322.85 4,538.99 4,765.95 5,004.24 5,254.45 5,354.44 5,404.45 5,454.45
SE-MO. 2,161.42 2,269.50 2,382.98 2,502.12 2,627.22 2,677.22 2,702.22 2,727.23
BI-WK 1,995.16 2,094.92 2,199.67 2,309.65 2,425.13 2,471.28 2,494.36 2,517.44

MAINT. WORKER I YEAR 35,682.66 37,466.78 39,340.08 41,306.98 43,372.42
MONTH 2,973.56 3,122.23 3,278.34 3,442.25 3,614.37
SE-MO. 1,486.78 1,561.12 1,639.17 1,721.12 1,807.18
BI-WK 1,372.41 1,441.03 1,513.08 1,588.73 1,668.17

MAINT. WORKER II YEAR 39,513.24 41,488.98 43,563.52 45,741.80 48,029.02 49,228.92 49,829.00 50,429.08
MONTH 3,292.77 3,457.42 3,630.29 3,811.82 4,002.42 4,102.41 4,152.42 4,202.42
SE-MO. 1,646.39 1,728.71 1,815.15 1,905.91 2,001.21 2,051.21 2,076.21 2,101.21
BI-WK 1,519.74 1,595.73 1,675.52 1,759.30 1,847.27 1,893.42 1,916.50 1,939.58

MAINT. WORKER III YEAR 43,584.58 45,763.90 48,052.16 50,454.82 52,977.60 54,177.50 54,777.58 55,377.66
MONTH 3,632.05 3,813.66 4,004.35 4,204.57 4,414.80 4,514.79 4,564.80 4,614.81
SE-MO. 1,816.02 1,906.83 2,002.17 2,102.28 2,207.40 2,257.40 2,282.40 2,307.40
BI-WK 1,676.33 1,760.15 1,848.16 1,940.57 2,037.60 2,083.75 2,106.83 2,129.91

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 061920 6/17/2020 Page 4 of 66

Exhibit B

61 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 6/19/2020 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

MIGRANT AIDE I YEAR 32,179.68 33,788.56 35,478.04
MONTH 2,681.64 2,815.71 2,956.50
SE-MO. 1,340.82 1,407.86 1,478.25
BI-WK 1,237.68 1,299.56 1,364.54

MIGRANT AIDE II YEAR 37,276.98 39,140.92 41,097.94 43,152.72 45,310.46 46,510.36 47,110.44 47,710.52
MONTH 3,106.42 3,261.74 3,424.83 3,596.06 3,775.87 3,875.86 3,925.87 3,975.88
SE-MO. 1,553.21 1,630.87 1,712.41 1,798.03 1,887.94 1,937.93 1,962.94 1,987.94
BI-WK 1,433.73 1,505.42 1,580.69 1,659.72 1,742.71 1,788.86 1,811.94 1,835.02

MIGRANT CNTR. MRG. YEAR 48,251.06 50,663.60 53,196.78 55,856.58 58,649.50 59,849.40 60,449.48 61,049.56
MONTH 4,020.92 4,221.97 4,433.07 4,654.72 4,887.46 4,987.45 5,037.46 5,087.46
SE-MO. 2,010.46 2,110.98 2,216.53 2,327.36 2,443.73 2,493.73 2,518.73 2,543.73
BI-WK 1,855.81 1,948.60 2,046.03 2,148.33 2,255.75 2,301.90 2,324.98 2,348.06

MIS TECHNICIAN YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

N/P DEVEL. SPEC. YEAR 49,654.02 52,136.76 54,743.52 57,480.80 60,354.84 61,554.74 62,154.82 62,754.90
MONTH 4,137.84 4,344.73 4,561.96 4,790.07 5,029.57 5,129.56 5,179.57 5,229.58
SE-MO. 2,068.92 2,172.37 2,280.98 2,395.03 2,514.79 2,564.78 2,589.78 2,614.79
BI-WK 1,909.77 2,005.26 2,105.52 2,210.80 2,321.34 2,367.49 2,390.57 2,413.65

OCCUP. SUPER. YEAR 44,908.50 47,153.86 49,511.54 51,987.00 54,586.48 55,786.38 56,386.46 56,986.54
MONTH 3,742.38 3,929.49 4,125.96 4,332.25 4,548.87 4,648.87 4,698.87 4,748.88
SE-MO. 1,871.19 1,964.74 2,062.98 2,166.13 2,274.44 2,324.43 2,349.44 2,374.44
BI-WK 1,727.25 1,813.61 1,904.29 1,999.50 2,099.48 2,145.63 2,168.71 2,191.79

PERSNL. TECH. II YEAR 40,713.14 42,748.68 44,886.14 47,130.46 49,487.10 50,687.00 51,287.08 51,887.16
MONTH 3,392.76 3,562.39 3,740.51 3,927.54 4,123.93 4,223.92 4,273.92 4,323.93
SE-MO. 1,696.38 1,781.20 1,870.26 1,963.77 2,061.96 2,111.96 2,136.96 2,161.97
BI-WK 1,565.89 1,644.18 1,726.39 1,812.71 1,903.35 1,949.50 1,972.58 1,995.66

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 061920 6/17/2020 Page 5 of 66

Exhibit B

62 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 6/19/2020 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

PREV. MAINT. YEAR 43,584.58 45,763.90 48,052.16 50,454.82 52,977.60 54,177.50 54,777.58 55,377.66
WORKER MONTH 3,632.05 3,813.66 4,004.35 4,204.57 4,414.80 4,514.79 4,564.80 4,614.81

SE-MO. 1,816.02 1,906.83 2,002.17 2,102.28 2,207.40 2,257.40 2,282.40 2,307.40
BI-WK 1,676.33 1,760.15 1,848.16 1,940.57 2,037.60 2,083.75 2,106.83 2,129.91

RECEP./TYPIST YEAR 26,867.10 28,210.52 29,621.02 31,101.98 32,657.04 33,856.94 34,457.02 35,057.10
MONTH 2,238.93 2,350.88 2,468.42 2,591.83 2,721.42 2,821.41 2,871.42 2,921.43
SE-MO. 1,119.46 1,175.44 1,234.21 1,295.92 1,360.71 1,410.71 1,435.71 1,460.71
BI-WK 1,033.35 1,085.02 1,139.27 1,196.23 1,256.04 1,302.19 1,325.27 1,348.35

RESIDENT SERVICES YEAR 44,908.50 47,153.86 49,511.54 51,987.00 54,586.48 55,786.38 56,386.46 56,986.54
COORDINATOR MONTH 3,742.38 3,929.49 4,125.96 4,332.25 4,548.87 4,648.87 4,698.87 4,748.88

SE-MO. 1,871.19 1,964.74 2,062.98 2,166.13 2,274.44 2,324.43 2,349.44 2,374.44
BI-WK 1,727.25 1,813.61 1,904.29 1,999.50 2,099.48 2,145.63 2,168.71 2,191.79

SENIOR SERV PROJ YEAR 38,021.62 39,922.74 41,918.76 44,014.62 46,215.26 47,415.16 48,015.24 48,615.32
COORDINATOR MONTH 3,168.47 3,326.90 3,493.23 3,667.89 3,851.27 3,951.26 4,001.27 4,051.28

SE-MO. 1,584.23 1,663.45 1,746.62 1,833.94 1,925.64 1,975.63 2,000.64 2,025.64
BI-WK 1,462.37 1,535.49 1,612.26 1,692.87 1,777.51 1,823.66 1,846.74 1,869.82

UTILITY WORKER YEAR 25,957.89 27,255.80 28,618.72 30,049.76 31,552.30 32,752.20 33,352.28 33,952.36
MONTH 2,163.16 2,271.32 2,384.89 2,504.15 2,629.36 2,729.35 2,779.36 2,829.36
SE-MO. 1,081.58 1,135.66 1,192.45 1,252.07 1,314.68 1,364.68 1,389.68 1,414.68
BI-WK 998.38 1,048.30 1,100.72 1,155.76 1,213.55 1,259.70 1,282.78 1,305.86

PART-TIME PERS. Hourly Rates from $8.00 to $10.00 per hour
(per experience & ability)

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 061920 6/17/2020 Page 6 of 66

Exhibit B

63 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2021 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE
ACCOUNTANT YEAR 50,647.22 53,179.62 55,838.64 58,630.52 61,562.02 62,761.92 63,362.00 63,962.08

MONTH 4,220.60 4,431.64 4,653.22 4,885.88 5,130.17 5,230.16 5,280.17 5,330.17
SE-MO. 2,110.30 2,215.82 2,326.61 2,442.94 2,565.08 2,615.08 2,640.08 2,665.09
BI-WK 1,947.97 2,045.37 2,147.64 2,255.02 2,367.77 2,413.92 2,437.00 2,460.08

ACCTING. SUPER. YEAR 55,843.58 58,635.72 61,567.48 64,645.88 67,878.20 69,078.10 69,678.18 70,278.26
MONTH 4,653.63 4,886.31 5,130.62 5,387.16 5,656.52 5,756.51 5,806.52 5,856.52
SE-MO. 2,326.82 2,443.16 2,565.31 2,693.58 2,828.26 2,878.25 2,903.26 2,928.26
BI-WK 2,147.83 2,255.22 2,367.98 2,486.38 2,610.70 2,656.85 2,679.93 2,703.01

ACCTING TECH I YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

ACCTING TECH II YEAR 50,647.22 53,179.62 55,838.64 58,630.52 61,562.02 62,761.92 63,362.00 63,962.08
MONTH 4,220.60 4,431.64 4,653.22 4,885.88 5,130.17 5,230.16 5,280.17 5,330.17
SE-MO. 2,110.30 2,215.82 2,326.61 2,442.94 2,565.08 2,615.08 2,640.08 2,665.09
BI-WK 1,947.97 2,045.37 2,147.64 2,255.02 2,367.77 2,413.92 2,437.00 2,460.08

ACCTNG TECH-A/R YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

ACCTNG TECH-A/P YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020121 6/17/2020 Page 1 of 66

Exhibit B

64 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2021 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

ADMIN. CLERK I YEAR 27,404.52 28,774.72 30,213.56 31,724.16 33,310.42 34,510.32 35,110.40 35,710.48
MONTH 2,283.71 2,397.89 2,517.80 2,643.68 2,775.87 2,875.86 2,925.87 2,975.87
SE-MO. 1,141.86 1,198.95 1,258.90 1,321.84 1,387.93 1,437.93 1,462.93 1,487.94
BI-WK 1,054.02 1,106.72 1,162.06 1,220.16 1,281.17 1,327.32 1,350.40 1,373.48

ADMIN. CLERK II YEAR 31,703.10 33,288.32 34,952.84 36,700.56 38,535.64 39,735.54 40,335.62 40,935.70
MONTH 2,641.93 2,774.03 2,912.74 3,058.38 3,211.30 3,311.30 3,361.30 3,411.31
SE-MO. 1,320.96 1,387.01 1,456.37 1,529.19 1,605.65 1,655.65 1,680.65 1,705.65
BI-WK 1,219.35 1,280.32 1,344.34 1,411.56 1,482.14 1,528.29 1,551.37 1,574.45

CONST.COMP.COORD. YEAR 45,936.02 48,232.86 50,644.62 53,176.76 55,835.52 57,035.42 57,635.50 58,235.58
MONTH 3,828.00 4,019.41 4,220.39 4,431.40 4,652.96 4,752.95 4,802.96 4,852.97
SE-MO. 1,914.00 2,009.70 2,110.19 2,215.70 2,326.48 2,376.48 2,401.48 2,426.48
BI-WK 1,766.77 1,855.11 1,947.87 2,045.26 2,147.52 2,193.67 2,216.75 2,239.83

CUST. SERV. REP. YEAR 38,078.82 39,982.80 41,981.94 44,080.92 46,284.94 47,484.84 48,084.92 48,685.00
MONTH 3,173.24 3,331.90 3,498.50 3,673.41 3,857.08 3,957.07 4,007.08 4,057.08
SE-MO. 1,586.62 1,665.95 1,749.25 1,836.71 1,928.54 1,978.54 2,003.54 2,028.54
BI-WK 1,464.57 1,537.80 1,614.69 1,695.42 1,780.19 1,826.34 1,849.42 1,872.50

DEVELOPMENT TECH. YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

ELIG. LEAD WORKER YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020121 6/17/2020 Page 2 of 66

Exhibit B

65 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2021 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

ELIG. SPEC. I YEAR 32,843.72 34,485.88 36,210.20 38,020.84 39,921.96 41,121.86 41,721.94 42,322.02
MONTH 2,736.98 2,873.82 3,017.52 3,168.40 3,326.83 3,426.82 3,476.83 3,526.84
SE-MO. 1,368.49 1,436.91 1,508.76 1,584.20 1,663.42 1,713.41 1,738.41 1,763.42
BI-WK 1,263.22 1,326.38 1,392.70 1,462.34 1,535.46 1,581.61 1,604.69 1,627.77

ELIG. SPEC. II YEAR 38,082.98 39,987.22 41,986.62 44,085.86 46,290.14 47,490.04 48,090.12 48,690.20
MONTH 3,173.58 3,332.27 3,498.89 3,673.82 3,857.51 3,957.50 4,007.51 4,057.52
SE-MO. 1,586.79 1,666.13 1,749.44 1,836.91 1,928.76 1,978.75 2,003.76 2,028.76
BI-WK 1,464.73 1,537.97 1,614.87 1,695.61 1,780.39 1,826.54 1,849.62 1,872.70

FSS TECHNICIAN YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

HCV SUPERVISOR YEAR 45,806.80 48,097.14 50,501.88 53,027.00 55,678.48 56,878.38 57,478.46 58,078.54
MONTH 3,817.23 4,008.10 4,208.49 4,418.92 4,639.87 4,739.87 4,789.87 4,839.88
SE-MO. 1,908.62 2,004.05 2,104.25 2,209.46 2,319.94 2,369.93 2,394.94 2,419.94
BI-WK 1,761.80 1,849.89 1,942.38 2,039.50 2,141.48 2,187.63 2,210.71 2,233.79

HSNG.COMPLEX MGR. YEAR 49,275.72 51,739.48 54,326.48 57,042.70 59,894.90 61,094.80 61,694.88 62,294.96
MONTH 4,106.31 4,311.62 4,527.21 4,753.56 4,991.24 5,091.23 5,141.24 5,191.25
SE-MO. 2,053.16 2,155.81 2,263.60 2,376.78 2,495.62 2,545.62 2,570.62 2,595.62
BI-WK 1,895.22 1,989.98 2,089.48 2,193.95 2,303.65 2,349.80 2,372.88 2,395.96

HSING INSPEC.I YEAR 32,843.72 34,485.88 36,210.20 38,020.84 39,921.96 41,121.86 41,721.94 42,322.02
MONTH 2,736.98 2,873.82 3,017.52 3,168.40 3,326.83 3,426.82 3,476.83 3,526.84
SE-MO. 1,368.49 1,436.91 1,508.76 1,584.20 1,663.42 1,713.41 1,738.41 1,763.42
BI-WK 1,263.22 1,326.38 1,392.70 1,462.34 1,535.46 1,581.61 1,604.69 1,627.77

HSING INSPEC.II YEAR 38,082.98 39,987.22 41,986.62 44,085.86 46,290.14 47,490.04 48,090.12 48,690.20
MONTH 3,173.58 3,332.27 3,498.89 3,673.82 3,857.51 3,957.50 4,007.51 4,057.52
SE-MO. 1,586.79 1,666.13 1,749.44 1,836.91 1,928.76 1,978.75 2,003.76 2,028.76
BI-WK 1,464.73 1,537.97 1,614.87 1,695.61 1,780.39 1,826.54 1,849.62 1,872.70

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020121 6/17/2020 Page 3 of 66

Exhibit B

66 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2021 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

HSNG.PROG.SPEC.I YEAR 32,843.72 34,485.88 36,210.20 38,020.84 39,921.96 41,121.86 41,721.94 42,322.02
MONTH 2,736.98 2,873.82 3,017.52 3,168.40 3,326.83 3,426.82 3,476.83 3,526.84
SE-MO. 1,368.49 1,436.91 1,508.76 1,584.20 1,663.42 1,713.41 1,738.41 1,763.42
BI-WK 1,263.22 1,326.38 1,392.70 1,462.34 1,535.46 1,581.61 1,604.69 1,627.77

HSNG.PROG.SPEC.II YEAR 38,078.82 39,982.80 41,981.94 44,080.92 46,284.94 47,484.84 48,084.92 48,685.00
MONTH 3,173.24 3,331.90 3,498.50 3,673.41 3,857.08 3,957.07 4,007.08 4,057.08
SE-MO. 1,586.62 1,665.95 1,749.25 1,836.71 1,928.54 1,978.54 2,003.54 2,028.54
BI-WK 1,464.57 1,537.80 1,614.69 1,695.42 1,780.19 1,826.34 1,849.42 1,872.50

LEAD FOREMAN YEAR 55,557.32 58,335.16 61,251.84 64,314.38 67,530.06 68,729.96 69,330.04 69,930.12
MONTH 4,629.78 4,861.26 5,104.32 5,359.53 5,627.51 5,727.50 5,777.50 5,827.51
SE-MO 2,314.89 2,430.63 2,552.16 2,679.77 2,813.75 2,863.75 2,888.75 2,913.76
BI-WK 2,136.82 2,243.66 2,355.84 2,473.63 2,597.31 2,643.46 2,666.54 2,689.62

MAINT. FOREMAN YEAR 52,911.56 55,557.06 58,334.90 61,251.58 64,314.12 65,514.02 66,114.10 66,714.18
MONTH 4,409.30 4,629.76 4,861.24 5,104.30 5,359.51 5,459.50 5,509.51 5,559.52
SE-MO. 2,204.65 2,314.88 2,430.62 2,552.15 2,679.76 2,729.75 2,754.75 2,779.76
BI-WK 2,035.06 2,136.81 2,243.65 2,355.83 2,473.62 2,519.77 2,542.85 2,565.93

MAINT. WORKER I YEAR 36,396.36 38,216.10 40,126.84 42,133.26 44,240.04
MONTH 3,033.03 3,184.68 3,343.90 3,511.11 3,686.67
SE-MO. 1,516.52 1,592.34 1,671.95 1,755.55 1,843.34
BI-WK 1,399.86 1,469.85 1,543.34 1,620.51 1,701.54

MAINT. WORKER II YEAR 40,303.38 42,318.64 44,434.52 46,656.22 48,988.94 50,188.84 50,788.92 51,389.00
MONTH 3,358.62 3,526.55 3,702.88 3,888.02 4,082.41 4,182.40 4,232.41 4,282.42
SE-MO. 1,679.31 1,763.28 1,851.44 1,944.01 2,041.21 2,091.20 2,116.21 2,141.21
BI-WK 1,550.13 1,627.64 1,709.02 1,794.47 1,884.19 1,930.34 1,953.42 1,976.50

MAINT. WORKER III YEAR 44,456.36 46,679.10 49,013.12 51,463.88 54,037.10 55,237.00 55,837.08 56,437.16
MONTH 3,704.70 3,889.93 4,084.43 4,288.66 4,503.09 4,603.08 4,653.09 4,703.10
SE-MO. 1,852.35 1,944.96 2,042.21 2,144.33 2,251.55 2,301.54 2,326.55 2,351.55
BI-WK 1,709.86 1,795.35 1,885.12 1,979.38 2,078.35 2,124.50 2,147.58 2,170.66

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020121 6/17/2020 Page 4 of 66

Exhibit B

67 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2021 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

MIGRANT AIDE I YEAR 32,823.18 34,464.30 36,187.58
MONTH 2,735.27 2,872.03 3,015.63
SE-MO. 1,367.63 1,436.01 1,507.82
BI-WK 1,262.43 1,325.55 1,391.83

MIGRANT AIDE II YEAR 38,022.40 39,923.52 41,919.80 44,015.92 46,216.82 47,416.72 48,016.80 48,616.88
MONTH 3,168.53 3,326.96 3,493.32 3,667.99 3,851.40 3,951.39 4,001.40 4,051.41
SE-MO. 1,584.27 1,663.48 1,746.66 1,834.00 1,925.70 1,975.70 2,000.70 2,025.70
BI-WK 1,462.40 1,535.52 1,612.30 1,692.92 1,777.57 1,823.72 1,846.80 1,869.88

MIGRANT CNTR. MRG. YEAR 49,216.18 51,677.08 54,260.96 56,974.06 59,822.88 61,022.78 61,622.86 62,222.94
MONTH 4,101.35 4,306.42 4,521.75 4,747.84 4,985.24 5,085.23 5,135.24 5,185.25
SE-MO. 2,050.67 2,153.21 2,260.87 2,373.92 2,492.62 2,542.62 2,567.62 2,592.62
BI-WK 1,892.93 1,987.58 2,086.96 2,191.31 2,300.88 2,347.03 2,370.11 2,393.19

MIS TECHNICIAN YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

N/P DEVEL. SPEC. YEAR 50,647.22 53,179.62 55,838.64 58,630.52 61,562.02 62,761.92 63,362.00 63,962.08
MONTH 4,220.60 4,431.64 4,653.22 4,885.88 5,130.17 5,230.16 5,280.17 5,330.17
SE-MO. 2,110.30 2,215.82 2,326.61 2,442.94 2,565.08 2,615.08 2,640.08 2,665.09
BI-WK 1,947.97 2,045.37 2,147.64 2,255.02 2,367.77 2,413.92 2,437.00 2,460.08

OCCUP. SUPER. YEAR 45,806.80 48,097.14 50,501.88 53,027.00 55,678.48 56,878.38 57,478.46 58,078.54
MONTH 3,817.23 4,008.10 4,208.49 4,418.92 4,639.87 4,739.87 4,789.87 4,839.88
SE-MO. 1,908.62 2,004.05 2,104.25 2,209.46 2,319.94 2,369.93 2,394.94 2,419.94
BI-WK 1,761.80 1,849.89 1,942.38 2,039.50 2,141.48 2,187.63 2,210.71 2,233.79

PERSNL. TECH. II YEAR 41,527.46 43,603.82 45,783.92 48,073.22 50,476.92 51,676.82 52,276.90 52,876.98
MONTH 3,460.62 3,633.65 3,815.33 4,006.10 4,206.41 4,306.40 4,356.41 4,406.42
SE-MO. 1,730.31 1,816.83 1,907.66 2,003.05 2,103.21 2,153.20 2,178.20 2,203.21
BI-WK 1,597.21 1,677.07 1,760.92 1,848.97 1,941.42 1,987.57 2,010.65 2,033.73

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020121 6/17/2020 Page 5 of 66

Exhibit B

68 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2021 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

PREV. MAINT. YEAR 44,456.36 46,679.10 49,013.12 51,463.88 54,037.10 55,237.00 55,837.08 56,437.16
WORKER MONTH 3,704.70 3,889.93 4,084.43 4,288.66 4,503.09 4,603.08 4,653.09 4,703.10

SE-MO. 1,852.35 1,944.96 2,042.21 2,144.33 2,251.55 2,301.54 2,326.55 2,351.55
BI-WK 1,709.86 1,795.35 1,885.12 1,979.38 2,078.35 2,124.50 2,147.58 2,170.66

RECEP./TYPIST YEAR 27,404.52 28,774.72 30,213.56 31,724.16 33,310.42 34,510.32 35,110.40 35,710.48
MONTH 2,283.71 2,397.89 2,517.80 2,643.68 2,775.87 2,875.86 2,925.87 2,975.87
SE-MO. 1,141.86 1,198.95 1,258.90 1,321.84 1,387.93 1,437.93 1,462.93 1,487.94
BI-WK 1,054.02 1,106.72 1,162.06 1,220.16 1,281.17 1,327.32 1,350.40 1,373.48

RESIDENT SERVICES YEAR 45,806.80 48,097.14 50,501.88 53,027.00 55,678.48 56,878.38 57,478.46 58,078.54
COORDINATOR MONTH 3,817.23 4,008.10 4,208.49 4,418.92 4,639.87 4,739.87 4,789.87 4,839.88

SE-MO. 1,908.62 2,004.05 2,104.25 2,209.46 2,319.94 2,369.93 2,394.94 2,419.94
BI-WK 1,761.80 1,849.89 1,942.38 2,039.50 2,141.48 2,187.63 2,210.71 2,233.79

SENIOR SERV PROJ YEAR 38,782.12 40,721.20 42,757.26 44,895.24 47,140.08 48,339.98 48,940.06 49,540.14
COORDINATOR MONTH 3,231.84 3,393.43 3,563.11 3,741.27 3,928.34 4,028.33 4,078.34 4,128.35

SE-MO. 1,615.92 1,696.72 1,781.55 1,870.64 1,964.17 2,014.17 2,039.17 2,064.17
BI-WK 1,491.62 1,566.20 1,644.51 1,726.74 1,813.08 1,859.23 1,882.31 1,905.39

UTILITY WORKER YEAR 26,477.04 27,801.02 29,190.98 30,650.62 32,183.06 33,382.96 33,983.04 34,583.12
MONTH 2,206.42 2,316.75 2,432.58 2,554.22 2,681.92 2,781.91 2,831.92 2,881.93
SE-MO. 1,103.21 1,158.38 1,216.29 1,277.11 1,340.96 1,390.96 1,415.96 1,440.96
BI-WK 1,018.35 1,069.27 1,122.73 1,178.87 1,237.81 1,283.96 1,307.04 1,330.12

PART-TIME PERS. Hourly Rates from $8.00 to $10.00 per hour
(per experience & ability)

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020121 6/17/2020 Page 6 of 66

Exhibit B

69 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2022 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE
ACCOUNTANT YEAR 51,660.18 54,243.28 56,955.34 59,803.12 62,793.38 63,993.28 64,593.36 65,193.44

MONTH 4,305.02 4,520.27 4,746.28 4,983.59 5,232.78 5,332.77 5,382.78 5,432.79
SE-MO. 2,152.51 2,260.14 2,373.14 2,491.80 2,616.39 2,666.39 2,691.39 2,716.39
BI-WK 1,986.93 2,086.28 2,190.59 2,300.12 2,415.13 2,461.28 2,484.36 2,507.44

ACCTING. SUPER. YEAR 56,960.54 59,808.58 62,799.10 65,939.12 69,236.18 70,436.08 71,036.16 71,636.24
MONTH 4,746.71 4,984.05 5,233.26 5,494.93 5,769.68 5,869.67 5,919.68 5,969.69
SE-MO. 2,373.36 2,492.02 2,616.63 2,747.46 2,884.84 2,934.84 2,959.84 2,984.84
BI-WK 2,190.79 2,300.33 2,415.35 2,536.12 2,662.93 2,709.08 2,732.16 2,755.24

ACCTING TECH I YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

ACCTING TECH II YEAR 51,660.18 54,243.28 56,955.34 59,803.12 62,793.38 63,993.28 64,593.36 65,193.44
MONTH 4,305.02 4,520.27 4,746.28 4,983.59 5,232.78 5,332.77 5,382.78 5,432.79
SE-MO. 2,152.51 2,260.14 2,373.14 2,491.80 2,616.39 2,666.39 2,691.39 2,716.39
BI-WK 1,986.93 2,086.28 2,190.59 2,300.12 2,415.13 2,461.28 2,484.36 2,507.44

ACCTNG TECH-A/R YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

ACCTNG TECH-A/P YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020122 6/17/2020 Page 1 of 66

Exhibit B

70 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2022 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

ADMIN. CLERK I YEAR 27,952.60 29,350.36 30,817.80 32,358.82 33,976.80 35,176.70 35,776.78 36,376.86
MONTH 2,329.38 2,445.86 2,568.15 2,696.57 2,831.40 2,931.39 2,981.40 3,031.41
SE-MO. 1,164.69 1,222.93 1,284.08 1,348.28 1,415.70 1,465.70 1,490.70 1,515.70
BI-WK 1,075.10 1,128.86 1,185.30 1,244.57 1,306.80 1,352.95 1,376.03 1,399.11

ADMIN. CLERK II YEAR 32,337.24 33,954.18 35,651.98 37,434.54 39,306.28 40,506.18 41,106.26 41,706.34
MONTH 2,694.77 2,829.52 2,971.00 3,119.55 3,275.52 3,375.52 3,425.52 3,475.53
SE-MO. 1,347.39 1,414.76 1,485.50 1,559.77 1,637.76 1,687.76 1,712.76 1,737.76
BI-WK 1,243.74 1,305.93 1,371.23 1,439.79 1,511.78 1,557.93 1,581.01 1,604.09

CONST.COMP.COORD. YEAR 46,854.86 49,197.72 51,657.58 54,240.42 56,952.48 58,152.38 58,752.46 59,352.54
MONTH 3,904.57 4,099.81 4,304.80 4,520.04 4,746.04 4,846.03 4,896.04 4,946.05
SE-MO. 1,952.29 2,049.91 2,152.40 2,260.02 2,373.02 2,423.02 2,448.02 2,473.02
BI-WK 1,802.11 1,892.22 1,986.83 2,086.17 2,190.48 2,236.63 2,259.71 2,282.79

CUST. SERV. REP. YEAR 38,840.36 40,782.30 42,821.48 44,962.58 47,210.80 48,410.70 49,010.78 49,610.86
MONTH 3,236.70 3,398.53 3,568.46 3,746.88 3,934.23 4,034.23 4,084.23 4,134.24
SE-MO. 1,618.35 1,699.26 1,784.23 1,873.44 1,967.12 2,017.11 2,042.12 2,067.12
BI-WK 1,493.86 1,568.55 1,646.98 1,729.33 1,815.80 1,861.95 1,885.03 1,908.11

DEVELOPMENT TECH. YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

ELIG. LEAD WORKER YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020122 6/17/2020 Page 2 of 66

Exhibit B

71 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2022 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

ELIG. SPEC. I YEAR 33,500.48 35,175.40 36,934.30 38,781.08 40,720.16 41,920.06 42,520.14 43,120.22
MONTH 2,791.71 2,931.28 3,077.86 3,231.76 3,393.35 3,493.34 3,543.35 3,593.35
SE-MO. 1,395.85 1,465.64 1,538.93 1,615.88 1,696.67 1,746.67 1,771.67 1,796.68
BI-WK 1,288.48 1,352.90 1,420.55 1,491.58 1,566.16 1,612.31 1,635.39 1,658.47

ELIG. SPEC. II YEAR 38,844.52 40,786.72 42,826.16 44,967.52 47,216.00 48,415.90 49,015.98 49,616.06
MONTH 3,237.04 3,398.89 3,568.85 3,747.29 3,934.67 4,034.66 4,084.67 4,134.67
SE-MO. 1,618.52 1,699.45 1,784.42 1,873.65 1,967.33 2,017.33 2,042.33 2,067.34
BI-WK 1,494.02 1,568.72 1,647.16 1,729.52 1,816.00 1,862.15 1,885.23 1,908.31

FSS TECHNICIAN YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

HCV SUPERVISOR YEAR 46,723.04 49,059.14 51,511.98 54,087.54 56,791.80 57,991.70 58,591.78 59,191.86
MONTH 3,893.59 4,088.26 4,292.67 4,507.30 4,732.65 4,832.64 4,882.65 4,932.66
SE-MO. 1,946.79 2,044.13 2,146.33 2,253.65 2,366.33 2,416.32 2,441.32 2,466.33
BI-WK 1,797.04 1,886.89 1,981.23 2,080.29 2,184.30 2,230.45 2,253.53 2,276.61

HSNG.COMPLEX MGR. YEAR 50,261.12 52,774.28 55,413.02 58,183.58 61,092.72 62,292.62 62,892.70 63,492.78
MONTH 4,188.43 4,397.86 4,617.75 4,848.63 5,091.06 5,191.05 5,241.06 5,291.07
SE-MO. 2,094.21 2,198.93 2,308.88 2,424.32 2,545.53 2,595.53 2,620.53 2,645.53
BI-WK 1,933.12 2,029.78 2,131.27 2,237.83 2,349.72 2,395.87 2,418.95 2,442.03

HSING INSPEC.I YEAR 33,500.48 35,175.40 36,934.30 38,781.08 40,720.16 41,920.06 42,520.14 43,120.22
MONTH 2,791.71 2,931.28 3,077.86 3,231.76 3,393.35 3,493.34 3,543.35 3,593.35
SE-MO. 1,395.85 1,465.64 1,538.93 1,615.88 1,696.67 1,746.67 1,771.67 1,796.68
BI-WK 1,288.48 1,352.90 1,420.55 1,491.58 1,566.16 1,612.31 1,635.39 1,658.47

HSING INSPEC.II YEAR 38,844.52 40,786.72 42,826.16 44,967.52 47,216.00 48,415.90 49,015.98 49,616.06
MONTH 3,237.04 3,398.89 3,568.85 3,747.29 3,934.67 4,034.66 4,084.67 4,134.67
SE-MO. 1,618.52 1,699.45 1,784.42 1,873.65 1,967.33 2,017.33 2,042.33 2,067.34
BI-WK 1,494.02 1,568.72 1,647.16 1,729.52 1,816.00 1,862.15 1,885.23 1,908.31

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020122 6/17/2020 Page 3 of 66

Exhibit B

72 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2022 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

HSNG.PROG.SPEC.I YEAR 33,500.48 35,175.40 36,934.30 38,781.08 40,720.16 41,920.06 42,520.14 43,120.22
MONTH 2,791.71 2,931.28 3,077.86 3,231.76 3,393.35 3,493.34 3,543.35 3,593.35
SE-MO. 1,395.85 1,465.64 1,538.93 1,615.88 1,696.67 1,746.67 1,771.67 1,796.68
BI-WK 1,288.48 1,352.90 1,420.55 1,491.58 1,566.16 1,612.31 1,635.39 1,658.47

HSNG.PROG.SPEC.II YEAR 38,840.36 40,782.30 42,821.48 44,962.58 47,210.80 48,410.70 49,010.78 49,610.86
MONTH 3,236.70 3,398.53 3,568.46 3,746.88 3,934.23 4,034.23 4,084.23 4,134.24
SE-MO. 1,618.35 1,699.26 1,784.23 1,873.44 1,967.12 2,017.11 2,042.12 2,067.12
BI-WK 1,493.86 1,568.55 1,646.98 1,729.33 1,815.80 1,861.95 1,885.03 1,908.11

LEAD FOREMAN YEAR 56,668.56 59,502.04 62,477.22 65,601.12 68,881.28 70,081.18 70,681.26 71,281.34
MONTH 4,722.38 4,958.50 5,206.44 5,466.76 5,740.11 5,840.10 5,890.11 5,940.11
SE-MO 2,361.19 2,479.25 2,603.22 2,733.38 2,870.05 2,920.05 2,945.05 2,970.06
BI-WK 2,179.56 2,288.54 2,402.97 2,523.12 2,649.28 2,695.43 2,718.51 2,741.59

MAINT. FOREMAN YEAR 53,969.76 56,668.30 59,501.78 62,476.96 65,600.86 66,800.76 67,400.84 68,000.92
MONTH 4,497.48 4,722.36 4,958.48 5,206.41 5,466.74 5,566.73 5,616.74 5,666.74
SE-MO. 2,248.74 2,361.18 2,479.24 2,603.21 2,733.37 2,783.37 2,808.37 2,833.37
BI-WK 2,075.76 2,179.55 2,288.53 2,402.96 2,523.11 2,569.26 2,592.34 2,615.42

MAINT. WORKER I YEAR 37,124.36 38,980.50 40,929.46 42,975.92 45,124.82
MONTH 3,093.70 3,248.38 3,410.79 3,581.33 3,760.40
SE-MO. 1,546.85 1,624.19 1,705.39 1,790.66 1,880.20
BI-WK 1,427.86 1,499.25 1,574.21 1,652.92 1,735.57

MAINT. WORKER II YEAR 41,109.38 43,164.94 45,323.20 47,589.36 49,968.88 51,168.78 51,768.86 52,368.94
MONTH 3,425.78 3,597.08 3,776.93 3,965.78 4,164.07 4,264.07 4,314.07 4,364.08
SE-MO. 1,712.89 1,798.54 1,888.47 1,982.89 2,082.04 2,132.03 2,157.04 2,182.04
BI-WK 1,581.13 1,660.19 1,743.20 1,830.36 1,921.88 1,968.03 1,991.11 2,014.19

MAINT. WORKER III YEAR 45,345.56 47,612.76 49,993.32 52,492.96 55,117.66 56,317.56 56,917.64 57,517.72
MONTH 3,778.80 3,967.73 4,166.11 4,374.41 4,593.14 4,693.13 4,743.14 4,793.14
SE-MO. 1,889.40 1,983.87 2,083.06 2,187.21 2,296.57 2,346.57 2,371.57 2,396.57
BI-WK 1,744.06 1,831.26 1,922.82 2,018.96 2,119.91 2,166.06 2,189.14 2,212.22

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020122 6/17/2020 Page 4 of 66

Exhibit B

73 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2022 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

MIGRANT AIDE I YEAR 33,479.68 35,153.56 36,911.16
MONTH 2,789.97 2,929.46 3,075.93
SE-MO. 1,394.99 1,464.73 1,537.97
BI-WK 1,287.68 1,352.06 1,419.66

MIGRANT AIDE II YEAR 38,782.90 40,721.98 42,758.04 44,896.02 47,140.86 48,340.76 48,940.84 49,540.92
MONTH 3,231.91 3,393.50 3,563.17 3,741.34 3,928.41 4,028.40 4,078.40 4,128.41
SE-MO. 1,615.95 1,696.75 1,781.59 1,870.67 1,964.20 2,014.20 2,039.20 2,064.21
BI-WK 1,491.65 1,566.23 1,644.54 1,726.77 1,813.11 1,859.26 1,882.34 1,905.42

MIGRANT CNTR. MRG. YEAR 50,200.54 52,710.58 55,346.20 58,113.64 61,019.40 62,219.30 62,819.38 63,419.46
MONTH 4,183.38 4,392.55 4,612.18 4,842.80 5,084.95 5,184.94 5,234.95 5,284.96
SE-MO. 2,091.69 2,196.27 2,306.09 2,421.40 2,542.48 2,592.47 2,617.47 2,642.48
BI-WK 1,930.79 2,027.33 2,128.70 2,235.14 2,346.90 2,393.05 2,416.13 2,439.21

MIS TECHNICIAN YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

N/P DEVEL. SPEC. YEAR 51,660.18 54,243.28 56,955.34 59,803.12 62,793.38 63,993.28 64,593.36 65,193.44
MONTH 4,305.02 4,520.27 4,746.28 4,983.59 5,232.78 5,332.77 5,382.78 5,432.79
SE-MO. 2,152.51 2,260.14 2,373.14 2,491.80 2,616.39 2,666.39 2,691.39 2,716.39
BI-WK 1,986.93 2,086.28 2,190.59 2,300.12 2,415.13 2,461.28 2,484.36 2,507.44

OCCUP. SUPER. YEAR 46,723.04 49,059.14 51,511.98 54,087.54 56,791.80 57,991.70 58,591.78 59,191.86
MONTH 3,893.59 4,088.26 4,292.67 4,507.30 4,732.65 4,832.64 4,882.65 4,932.66
SE-MO. 1,946.79 2,044.13 2,146.33 2,253.65 2,366.33 2,416.32 2,441.32 2,466.33
BI-WK 1,797.04 1,886.89 1,981.23 2,080.29 2,184.30 2,230.45 2,253.53 2,276.61

PERSNL. TECH. II YEAR 42,357.90 44,475.86 46,699.64 49,034.70 51,486.50 52,686.40 53,286.48 53,886.56
MONTH 3,529.83 3,706.32 3,891.64 4,086.23 4,290.54 4,390.53 4,440.54 4,490.55
SE-MO. 1,764.91 1,853.16 1,945.82 2,043.11 2,145.27 2,195.27 2,220.27 2,245.27
BI-WK 1,629.15 1,710.61 1,796.14 1,885.95 1,980.25 2,026.40 2,049.48 2,072.56

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020122 6/17/2020 Page 5 of 66

Exhibit B

74 of 75



HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF MERCED

Effective 2/1/2022 Union % 2.00%
10+ YRS 15+ YRS 20+ YRS

JOB CLASSIFIC. PERIOD STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 STEP 5 SERVICE SERVICE SERVICE

PREV. MAINT. YEAR 45,345.56 47,612.76 49,993.32 52,492.96 55,117.66 56,317.56 56,917.64 57,517.72
WORKER MONTH 3,778.80 3,967.73 4,166.11 4,374.41 4,593.14 4,693.13 4,743.14 4,793.14

SE-MO. 1,889.40 1,983.87 2,083.06 2,187.21 2,296.57 2,346.57 2,371.57 2,396.57
BI-WK 1,744.06 1,831.26 1,922.82 2,018.96 2,119.91 2,166.06 2,189.14 2,212.22

RECEP./TYPIST YEAR 27,952.60 29,350.36 30,817.80 32,358.82 33,976.80 35,176.70 35,776.78 36,376.86
MONTH 2,329.38 2,445.86 2,568.15 2,696.57 2,831.40 2,931.39 2,981.40 3,031.41
SE-MO. 1,164.69 1,222.93 1,284.08 1,348.28 1,415.70 1,465.70 1,490.70 1,515.70
BI-WK 1,075.10 1,128.86 1,185.30 1,244.57 1,306.80 1,352.95 1,376.03 1,399.11

RESIDENT SERVICES YEAR 46,723.04 49,059.14 51,511.98 54,087.54 56,791.80 57,991.70 58,591.78 59,191.86
COORDINATOR MONTH 3,893.59 4,088.26 4,292.67 4,507.30 4,732.65 4,832.64 4,882.65 4,932.66

SE-MO. 1,946.79 2,044.13 2,146.33 2,253.65 2,366.33 2,416.32 2,441.32 2,466.33
BI-WK 1,797.04 1,886.89 1,981.23 2,080.29 2,184.30 2,230.45 2,253.53 2,276.61

SENIOR SERV PROJ YEAR 39,557.70 41,535.52 43,612.40 45,793.02 48,082.58 49,282.48 49,882.56 50,482.64
COORDINATOR MONTH 3,296.48 3,461.29 3,634.37 3,816.09 4,006.88 4,106.87 4,156.88 4,206.89

SE-MO. 1,648.24 1,730.65 1,817.18 1,908.04 2,003.44 2,053.44 2,078.44 2,103.44
BI-WK 1,521.45 1,597.52 1,677.40 1,761.27 1,849.33 1,895.48 1,918.56 1,941.64

UTILITY WORKER YEAR 27,006.58 28,356.90 29,774.68 31,263.44 32,826.56 34,026.46 34,626.54 35,226.62
MONTH 2,250.55 2,363.08 2,481.22 2,605.29 2,735.55 2,835.54 2,885.55 2,935.55
SE-MO. 1,125.27 1,181.54 1,240.61 1,302.64 1,367.77 1,417.77 1,442.77 1,467.78
BI-WK 1,038.71 1,090.65 1,145.18 1,202.44 1,262.56 1,308.71 1,331.79 1,354.87

PART-TIME PERS. Hourly Rates from $8.00 to $10.00 per hour
(per experience & ability)

File: Copy of Salary Schedule 2020-2023 MOU 020122 6/17/2020 Page 6 of 66

Exhibit B

75 of 75


	6-18-20 Agenda - Special Meeting
	6-18-2020 Staff Report 2020-04 - Approving & Adopting MOU
	6-18-2020 Resolution 2020-04 Approving & Adopting MOU
	HACM Final Approved MOU 6-18-2020
	6-18-2020 Staff Report 2020-05 - Approving Salary Schedules
	6-18-2020 Resolution 2020-05 Approving Salary Schedules
	Salary Schedules 2020-2023



